

New Zealand Māoris value the bountiful properties of Flax. The nectar from its flowers makes a sweet drink. Its roots can be crushed into medicine. Its gum eases pains and heals wounds. Its leaves serve as bandages. Flax can be twisted, plaited and woven into fishing nets, footwear, cords and ropes.

It can also help you learn English, and other languages too.

# The Book of FLAX

# A new approach to computer-assisted language learning

Ian H. Witten, Shaoqun Wu, Liang Li, Jennifer L. Whisler

University of Waikato, New Zealand

Second Edition, August 2013

CThis work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported License

# Contents

	1
2. Collections	5
2.1 Documents	7
2.2 Searching	9
2.3 Browsing	11
2.4 Activities, collocations, wordlist, cherry basket	11
3. Stand-alone FLAX or Moodle-FLAX?	13
4. Language activities	17
4.1 Activities on words, sentences and paragraphs	19
4.1.1 Hangman	21
4.1.2 Scrambled Sentences	25
4.1.3 Split Sentences	29
4.1.4 Scrambled Paragraphs	33
4.1.5 Word Guessing	37
4.1.6 Punctuation and Capitalization	41
4.1.7 Image Guessing	45
4.2 Activities on collocations	49
4.2.1 Related Words	51
4.2.2 Collocation Matching	55
4.2.3 Collocation Dominoes	59
4.2.4 Collocation Guessing	63
4.2.5 Completing Collocations	67
4.3 Language activities in Moodle	71
5. More about collections	73
5.1 Exploring articles	75
5.2 Wordlist view	77
5.3 Collocation view	79
5.4 Searching and browsing collocations	81
5.5 Cherry picking	83
5.6 Exploring words	85
5.7 Exploring usage patterns of words	87
6. Creating your own collection	89
6.1 Building and installing the collection	91
6.2 Optional collection configuration	93
7. Language learning resources	95
7.1 Web Phrases	97
7.2 Learning Collocations	99
7.3 Preparing for essay-writing	101
7.4 Choosing the appropriate word	103
7.5 Hedging and boosting	105
7.6 Improving formality	107
7.7 Increasing text variation	109
7.8 Checking grammar	111
8. Under the hood	113
8.1 FLAX architecture	113
8.2 More on FLAX servers	115
8.3 FLAX in other languages	117
9. Over to you!	119
Further reading	121

Note: If you are reading this book as a PDF file and see a piece of blue text, click it!

# **1. Introducing FLAX**

FLAX is both a vision and a tool that you can use to create language learning exercises and facilitate your students' language production.<sup>1</sup>

The vision is to empower teachers to create engaging activities, to entice learners into intriguing language play, and to provide fingertip access to enormous collections of authentic phrases. The Web contains innumerable language activities, quizzes, and games, but they are fixed: the activities are cast in stone and the material is chosen by others. Our vision is to put the control back where it belongs, in the hands of teachers and learners. As well as language activities, the Web hosts countless ready-made texts and massive collections of writing in different areas – but they are hard to access in ways that facilitate language learning. Our vision is to capitalize on this wealth and process it into accessible and reusable language resources.

As an activity creation tool, FLAX lets teachers (or learners) design activities easily and rapidly by automatically transforming existing language material. The activities are either developed from popular games (e.g., Hangman, Dominoes, Tetris), or use game thinking to convert language learning into a form of entertainment. As a learning facilitation tool, FLAX can automatically process text, identify linguistic expressions with different patterns, and order them in terms of usage frequency, most popular first. This makes language patterns easily accessible to users. With an adequate repertoire of word combinations, learners can effectively build their ideas from blocks of words (e.g., *alcohol consumption, on the other hand, It should be noted that*), instead of having to choose every single word and struggle to organize them into the right sequence.

FLAX enables teachers to build bespoke libraries very easily. It is built upon powerful digital library technology, and provides access to vast linguistic resources containing countless examples of actual, authentic, usage in contemporary text. But teachers can also build collections using their own material, focusing on language learning in a particular domain (e.g., business, geology) or motivating students by using text from a particular context (e.g., country or region, common interests).

FLAX focuses on written language, and on learning English. Audio can be incorporated into dictation-style activities, and some activities use images to help conceptual understanding and foster descriptive power. The underlying ideas are language independent: we envisage different language versions in the future. FLAX encourages group learning and communication – some games embody built-in chat facilities and real-time scoreboards. All interaction takes place using a Web browser.

FLAX is an open source project. You can use it on our demonstration site, or download the software and run it yourself. Please help yourself! – and help us by providing feedback, and, if you can, technical expertise to extend it in different ways and to other languages.

Through examples, this book sets out the vision and the system that embodies it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It's confession time. The name originated as a bad acronym: *Flexible Knowledge Acquisition*. We prefer to think of it simply as FLAX.

v to use FLAX	You are currently using guest acce
► How to use FLAX	
Topic Outline	
FLAX Flexible Language Acquisition	
FLAX helps automate the production and delivery teacher, can easily create exercises from the textu your own digital library collections.	of practice exercises for learning English. You, the al content of digital libraries. You can also create
This short course demonstrates how to use FLAX, it (sorry!).	both as a student and as a teacher. But you can't edit
To try your hand at using the facilities for teachers username visitor, password visitor. Then you can a were a teacher of the course.	, go here and log in to the "Sandbox course" with add activities and build collections, just as if you
Part News forum	
1 What is FLAX?	
The Best of Password is one of the standard digital Moodle you can create your own collections and ma throughout your institution.	ibrary collections distributed with FLAX. From within ke them available on Moodle to your students or
M The Best of Password	
You can search for documents that contain any word	or word combination, or browse the documents in the
digital library by title (or by difficulty level). Take a loo and Working on organic farms. We will use these ar	ic at Going to the doctor, the Math Creation Story, ticles in the exercises that follow.
digital library by title (or by difficulty level). Take a loc and Working on organic farms. We will use these ar You can add a digital library collection to your cours Password collection. You can also add individual doo students to read. As an example, here is the <u>Advent</u>	is at Going to the obctor, the Mach creation story, ticles in the exercises that follow. e, as illustrated above with the Best of cuments in a collection, to make them available for fure sports article from The Best of Password.
digital library by title (or by difficulty level). Take a loc and Working on organic farms. We will use these ar You can add a digital library collection to your course Password collection. You can also add individual doo students to read. As an example, here is the <u>Advent</u> Madventure sports	e, as illustrated above with the Best of suments in a collection, to make them available for ture sports article from The Best of Password.
digital library by title (or by difficulty level). Take a loc and Working on organic farms. We will use these an You can add a digital library collection to your cours Password collection. You can also add individual doo students to read. As an example, here is the Advent Madventure sports Here are two videos that introduce the FLAX project	and the Moodle version of FLAX.
digital library by title (or by difficulty level). Take a loc and Working on organic farms. We will use these ar You can add a digital library collection to your course Password collection. You can also add individual doo students to read. As an example, here is the Advent M Adventure sports Here are two videos that introduce the FLAX project Watch a video about FLAX (6 minutes)	and the Moodle version of FLAX.

The How to use FLAX Moodle course

# What FLAX is ...

FLAX is a tool for teachers to create a language learning environment for their students – or for motivated students to create language exercises for themselves. It is "authorable" software; teachers can adapt the material to their students' needs.

Using FLAX, you can create activities for your students very quickly. The language content is automatically drawn from a digital library and configured according to your specifications. This is far quicker than creating the content yourself. Moreover, before the activities are made available to students you can check them to ensure that every item reaches your own standards, and discard any that do not.

We also envisage that you will build your own digital library collection from material suitable for your class. You can do this quickly and easily if you have documents in electronic form (e.g., Word files) or text that you can cut and paste from elsewhere (e.g., a Web page).

## ... and what it's not

FLAX is not a course for learning English (or any other language). And it does not by itself allow you to create such courses. With FLAX, you can create individual activities of different types. If you want to put them together into a course that learners proceed through in a predetermined sequence, you will need to use a learning management system. FLAX fits smoothly into the Moodle course management system. It also works stand-alone as a way of creating and presenting activities – but it does not lead students through them.

# What this book is ...

This book describes how to use FLAX, including how its various activity types look to students, how teachers create them, how to build a digital library collection from your own content, and a little bit about how it works. We cover both the Moodle and stand-alone versions of FLAX. The book is based on the Moodle course illustrated on the facing page.<sup>2</sup>

We begin by looking at activities made from the material in an existing digital library collection, in Chapter 4. Chapter 5 illustrates the language environment that FLAX provides. Then Chapter 6 shows how to build your own collection. In practice you will work in the reverse order: first build a collection; then create exercises based on it. Chapter 7 shows what you can do with the language resources that FLAX provides.

## ... and what it's not

The examples in this book are chosen to illustrate the different facilities that FLAX provides. Many are drawn from a particular digital library collection that reflects our context in New Zealand and is probably not a suitable collection for teaching in your own environment.

Our advice is to make a collection of your own material, and then design activities!

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> http://flax.nzdl.org/moodle/course/view.php?id=2

Y	flax interactive language learning library demos downloads about Login
The	Best of Password
Abou	nt Collection Search Browse Activities Collocations Wordlist 🖨 My Cherry Basket
💥 Bi	rowse Documents by Title
	Level 1       Level 2       Level 3       Level 4         Adventure sports (Level 4)       The beekeeper (Level 1)         Family history, genealogy and whakapapa (Level 4)         Fishing (Level 2)         Going to the doctor (Level 1)         Holiday plans (Level 1)         The kiwi bach (Level 3)         Kiwi food (Level 2)         Lfelines (Level 1)
	Making goals for learning English ( <i>Level 2</i> ) A Maori creation story ( <i>Level 2</i> ) The parliamentary system in NZ ( <i>Level 3</i> ) Preserving Te Reo Maori ( <i>Level 3</i> ) Using the internet to study English ( <i>Level 3</i> ) What do you eat? ( <i>Level 2</i> )
· · ·	Why do you need to keep your first language? ( <i>Level 4</i> ) Will you be my CUP? ( <i>Level 4</i> ) Witi Ihimaera a Maori writer ( <i>Level 4</i> ) Working on organic farms ( <i>Level 2</i> ) Writing poetry in English ( <i>Level 4</i> )

#### The Best of Password collection

The Best of Password						
About Collection	Search	Browse	Activities	Collocations	Wordlist	👗 My Cherry Basket
<b>X</b> About this collection This collection contains 20 items originally published in Password, a magazine for new speakers of English that contains articles, exercises and teaching notes. They were republished by Puriri Press in The Best of						
that contains articles, exercises and teaching notes. They were republished by Purri Press in The Best of Password 7, edited by H. Denny, A. Sachtleben and V. Yee. We gratefully acknowledge the editors' permission to build and distribute this digital library collection. For more information, or to subscribe to Password, please go to www.password.org.nz						

About the Best of Password collection

# 2. Collections

FLAX organizes documents into *collections* ranging from one or two documents to millions of them. Typically, language teachers either build a small collection themselves with a handful of documents that they choose, or make use of collections that others have built or ones distributed with FLAX as samples. Collections need not be small, however; underpinning the FLAX system is digital library technology that can accommodate vast collections, including entire libraries. First we look at how collections are used – by both students and teachers. Later we will see how to create them (Chapter 6).

The top picture opposite shows the "browsing" page of a FLAX collection entitled *The Best of Password* (this collection is distributed with the software). Beneath that is the "home page," which is where you go when you click the *About Collection* button in the control bar near the top of the page. The other buttons let you access the documents in different ways. (Some of them do not always appear; it depends on how the collection was built.)

This is what the buttons do:

- Search enables you to search the collection for particular documents, paragraphs, or sentences that contain particular words; or search for particular collocations
- Browse lets you browse the documents by title
- Activities takes you to language games that have been built for the collection, and allows you to create new ones
- Collocations lets you study the collocations in the documents
- Wordlist presents the words in the collection, sorted by how often they occur
- My Cherry Basket shows you any collocations ("cherries") that you have collected.

As the home page explains, this collection contains articles published in *Password*, a New Zealand magazine for new speakers of English that contains articles, exercises and teaching notes.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Published by Puriri Press as *The Best of Password 7*, edited by H. Denny, A. Sachtleben and V. Yee. We gratefully acknowledge the editors' permission to build and distribute this collection. To subscribe to *Password*, please visit http://www.password.org.nz.



"Adventure sports," a document in the Best of Password collection

## 2.1 Documents

There are 20 documents in the *Best of Password* collection. Here is one, called "Adventure sports." Most of them address topics relevant to New Zealand, and this is no exception. It is often helpful for teachers to create their own collections that contain documents relevant in a local context, or focused on a particular topic area (such as business, or geology). That way, students can work with documents they can easily relate to, and learn vocabulary and expressions used in that context. You will soon learn how to create collections of your own documents (Chapter 6).

**The text** talks about adventure sports in New Zealand. The illustration shows the original form of the document; you can also display a version in which collocations are highlighted. The tab labeled *wordlist* highlights certain words in the document: ones in the top 1000 English words, or the top 2000, or academic words (you can choose). The *adjective* tab highlights collocations that begin with an adjective. *Noun, preposition* and *verb* do the same for other parts of speech. Not all such collocations are highlighted because part of speech detection is done automatically, and is not infallible. (For example, sentence-initial nouns are tagged as proper nouns and excluded from collocations.) We will learn more about collocations and how they are identified later (Section 4.2).

**The accompanying image** illustrates white-water rafting and rock-climbing. It is easy to associate images with documents when creating your own collections. Often just one image is associated with each document, and it is displayed at the beginning as an introductory illustration (as here). Sometimes people make collections where each "document" is an image, along with a caption or some explanatory text. It is possible to associate several images with a document, in which case they are equally spaced throughout it. The documents you include in FLAX collections are intended to be simple: controlled image placement is not possible. You can also associate YouTube movies with documents.

*Audio versions* of the document are available too. If the player widget above the document image is activated, FLAX reads the document to you. In fact, there are two audio versions of documents in this collection: one in British English (as shown) and the other in New Zealand English (accessed by the menu). This facility allows students to listen to documents as well as read them – but you can include any audio accompaniment, not just a spoken version. Being able to listen to documents enables various "dictation" activities. When creating your own collections it is up to you to provide appropriate audio files, if you want. You need to record them separately, not in FLAX.

flax interactive language learning	<b>)</b> 4	library of	demos dou	Amloads about	Jt Login
The Best of Passwor	d				
About Collection Search Browse	Activities	Collocations	Wordlist	🖧 My Cherry	Basket
March Words in Collection					
Search for articles 👻 that con	ntain the words	young		search	]
M Search Result: 4 documents	s matched t	he query			
<ul> <li>Preserving Te Reo Maori</li> <li>Adventure sports</li> <li>Fishing</li> <li>Family history, genealogy and what</li> </ul>	kapapa				

## Searching the Best of Password collection for the word "young"

interactive k	anguage lea	rning	hr.	library d	emos dov	nloads abo	ut Lo
e Best of	<sup>r</sup> Pass	word	d				
About Collection	Search	Browse	Activities	Collocations	Wordlist	🍰 My Cherry	y Baske
Search Collo	cations i	n Collec	tion				
Search for a	collocations	<ul> <li>that cont</li> </ul>	tain the words	identity		search	]
Search Resul	t: 3 colla	ocation (s	s) matchea	l the query.			
Verb (2) Adjective	(1)						
• retain their ide	ntity 🗟						4
He writes o to survive voice hear	of Maori livi in the grow d.	ng in chang ring cities o	aing times – try of their country	/ing to adapt to /, trying to retair	the changing I their identity	) New Zealand, y , trying to ha	, trying ve their
• keeping their	identity						4
For a perio	d of over 1	00 years,	Maori languag	e was not value	d. Maori face	d a great chall	enge

Searching for collocations that involve the word identity

## 2.2 Searching

When you press the *Search* button you get a standard box into which you type a word (or words) to seek. The illustration shows a search for the word "young." In this case four documents are returned, and their titles are shown. Clicking the second one, for example, leads to the "Adventure sports" article we saw earlier. The only difference is that (depending on your Web browser setup) the search term – the word "young" – is highlighted in yellow wherever it appears in the document.

Searching is case-insensitive: the result is the same whether the query uses capital letters or small letters (*Young* is the same as *young*). However, you need to get the ending right – *computers* is *not* the same as *computer*. And if you specify more than one word, documents that contain any of them are returned. If you want to look for a phrase like *adventure sports* you need to put it in quotation marks.

Searching in FLAX is fast: even collections with millions of documents are searched almost instantly. If it seems slow for you, that's because of the network connection, not the searching itself. FLAX is built on digital library technology that is extremely efficient for large collections.

As well as searching articles and titles, you can also search collocations. You do this by pulling down the menu labeled *Search for articles* and selecting *collocations*. For example, a search for *identity* returns three collocations:

- retain their identity
- keeping their identity
- cultural identity.

Each of these appears in an article in the collection. The first two involve verbs, and are shown in the bottom image; the third involves an adjective and appears under the *Adjective* tab. Alongside each is shown the context in which it appears. There are ways of exploring collocations further – e.g., clicking *retain* in the second example brings up many other collocations that use this word. There are ways of seeking documents that contain that particular collocation on the Web. And there are ways of "picking" the collocation and putting it into your own basket of favorite collocations. We will learn more about these when we look at FLAX's collocation facilities (Section 4.2).

flax interactive k	anguage lea	arning	7	library	demos	downloads	about	Login
The Best of	f Pas	sword	d					
About Collection	Search	Browse	Activities	Collocation	is Word	list 🔏 My C	Cherry Ba	asket
All Level 1 • Holiday plans • The beekeepe • Lifelines • Going to the d	<i>Level 2</i> r octor	Level 3	Level 4					

#### Browsing the Best of Password collection: Level 1 documents

flax interactive lan	nguage learning	<b>)</b> 4	library de	emos down	nloads about	Login
The Best of	Password	d				
About Collection	Search Browse	Activities	Collocations	Wordlist	🏠 My Cherry B	asket
Marowse Docur	ments by Diffic	ulty Level				
All Level 1 L	Level 2 Level 3	Level 4				
<ul> <li>A Maori creation</li> </ul>	story					
<ul> <li>Fishing</li> </ul>						
<ul> <li>Kiwi food</li> </ul>						
<ul> <li>What do you eat</li> </ul>	ıt?					
<ul> <li>Making goals for</li> </ul>	r learning English					
<ul> <li>Working on orga</li> </ul>	anic farms					

Browsing the Best of Password collection: Level 2 documents

## 2.3 Browsing

The *Browse* button on the collection's home page lists all the documents in it. We saw earlier the twenty documents in the *Best of Password* collection. Clicking any one displays the document, just as before.

Each document is assigned a difficulty level by the user when the collection is created. The illustration shows the Level 1 and Level 2 documents separately. In this example the levels range from 1 to 4, easy to hard. However, you can type in your own levels when you create a collection, so that instead of numbers the levels might be the words *easy*, *moderate*, and *hard*. When you create a collection it's up to you to decide what difficulty scale to use.

You can see just the documents at a particular difficulty level using the buttons on the browsing page above the list of document titles.

## 2.4 Activities, collocations, wordlist, cherry basket

The remaining four navigation buttons on the collection's home page are discussed later.

• Activities takes you to language games that have been built for the collection, and allows you to create new ones.

FLAX activities are discussed in Chapter 4. This button does not appear if you are working in Moodle, where language activities are instead integrated into the course and you create new ones using Moodle's *Add an activity* menu.

• Collocations lets you study the collocations in the documents.

Collocations are small sequences of words that often appear together. They are discussed in Section 4.2.

• Wordlist shows you the words in all the documents in the collection.

You can look at all the words, or just the words in various standard lists – the most common 1000 or 2000 words in English, or the academic words. This is discussed in Section 5.2.

• My Cherry Basket shows you the collocations ("cherries") that you have collected.

FLAX provides a facility for "picking" favorite collocations and saving them in a kind of notebook that we call a cherry basket. These are discussed in Section 5.5.



# library demos downloads about Login

interactive language learning

The FLAX (Flexible Language Acquisition) project aims to automate the production and delivery of practice exercises for overseas students who are learning English. Exercise material comes from digital libraries, which can supply a virtually endless supply of collaborative and competitive language activities. (All software produced by this project is open source, issued under the GNU General Public License.)

Book of FLAX FLAX videos More FLAX videos 视频

#### *W* FLAX Distributed Collections

The Best of Password

flax

Earth Science

Happy English Learning

Image activities demo collection

#### *¥ FLAX Resource Collections*

British National Corpus

Learning Collocations

Web Phrases

Web Collocations

#### M British Academic Written English Collections

These collections come from the British Academic Written English (BAWE) corpus, which was developed at the Universities of Warwick, Reading and Oxford Brookes.

Physical Sciences

Arts and Humanities

Life Sciences

Social Sciences

#### M Collections Created by Registered Users

OIf you would like to build your own collections and put them here, please email us

Live and work in Aotearoa New Zealand

Expert writing

The stand-alone FLAX website, showing the list of collections

# 3. Stand-alone FLAX or Moodle-FLAX?

FLAX runs both as a stand-alone software system and as a facility within the Moodle course management system.<sup>4</sup> The difference affects some operational details, but not the main core of FLAX's functionality. The way you look at documents, create language activities, use them, and build collections does not depend on which way you are working. But the way you get started does.

## Stand-alone FLAX ...

To use FLAX in stand-alone mode, go to the URL of the FLAX server.<sup>5</sup> This will show you the image on the opposite page. It gives a list of the standard collections that are available on the server, plus a list of collections created by users. Just click the name of any collection to go to its home page,

If you have installed the FLAX server on your own computer you will see just the collections at the top ("FLAX Distributed Collections"), and perhaps those at the bottom ("Collections Created by Registered Users"), if there are any, but not the ones in between, which are specific to the FLAX project server. FLAX is open source software; the server is completely free, and easy to install (see Section 8.1).

To create your own collections, you need to register as a user.<sup>6</sup> After doing this you can log in using the button near the top right of the screen. Any collections you create will be available to all users. If you want to keep them private, you need to install your own server – which is what we recommend.

The way you create new collections is exactly the same for stand-alone FLAX as for Moodle-FLAX, and is described in Chapter 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Moodle is at http://moodle.org.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The FLAX project demonstration server is at http://flax.nzdl.org. Anyone can use it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> You can register as a user of the demonstration server by emailing your name and the name of the organization where you work or study to flax@cs.waikato.ac.nz.

The Best of Password is one of the standard digital library collections distributed with FLAX. From within Moodle you can create your own collections and make them available on Moodle to your students or throughout your institution.

X The Best of Password

#### A FLAX collection in a Moodle course

	🌌 Adding a new FLAX language learning t	o Topic 4
(2) Name*	ELAV language language	
Description	FLAX language learning	
		1
	日 注 读 → ※ ● ■ ■ ■ Q C ■ ■ Δ	3
	Petrip	Ai
Content		
Add to the course	Language exercises	
	Clanguage resources	
Select a collection	The Best of Password	
	Earth Science Image activities demo collection	
	Make a new collection	
Select an activity	Scrambled Sentences	
	<ul> <li>Word Guessing</li> <li>Completing Collocations</li> </ul>	
	Scrambled Paragraphs     Resturation	
	Split Sentences	
Exercise content	This Scrambled Sentences exercise contains 31 sentences	
	[Edit content]	
Grade		
Crada	Manada	
Grade	ivo grade 👻	
Access control		
Open exercise	10 - June - 2013 - 10 - 40 - Enable	
Close exercise	10 v June v 2013 v 10 v 40 v Enable	
	Save and return to course Save and dientau Cancel	
	Fore and retrining contract [case and dishrak] [cancer]	There are required fields in this form marked *.

Adding a FLAX activity or resource to a Moodle course

### ... or Moodle-FLAX

For Moodle users, FLAX can provide students in a class with convenient searching and browsing facilities that are accessed directly from their course. And for teachers, it lets them create new activities and new document collections without leaving the Moodle system.

Before you begin, the administrator of your Moodle system must first install the Moodle-FLAX module, which is available from both the FLAX and Moodle websites. Assuming that this module is installed in your system, a digital library collection is just another kind of Moodle resource. The small top picture opposite shows a fragment of a FLAX course that contains a digital library collection, whose name is preceded by the FLAX logo. Click it to enter the collection, exactly as shown in Chapter 2.<sup>7</sup>

In order to add to a course a FLAX collection, or a single document in a collection, turn editing on and use the standard Moodle *Add an activity or resource* menu. When the Moodle-FLAX module is installed, this contains a new item:

• FLAX language learning.

This takes you to the page shown opposite, where you opt to add a language resource or a language activity. All teachers who use Moodle will be familiar with this kind of display.

If you select *Language resource*, you see a list of FLAX collections that have been built within that Moodle installation, and when you select one of these you see a list of documents in it. You can add any of these documents or collections to your course.

If you select *Language exercise,* you see a list of collections and a list of activities associated with the currently-selected collection – as shown here. For example, here the selected collection is *The Best of Password*, and it has several associated activities, *Scrambled Sentences, Word Guessing*, and so on (these are described in Chapter 4).

There is also a link called *Make a new collection*. The process of making your own collection is described in Chapter 6. The list of collections will contain any new ones that you – or anyone else – has added to your Moodle installation. Beside any collection that you have added, buttons will appear that let you edit or delete the collection.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> You can see this in the *How to use FLAX* course, which contains both the *Best of Password* collection and the single article "Adventure sports".

flax	anguage learning	1		Ibrary	demos downloads about Logi
ne Best of	F Passw	ord			
About Collection	Search Bro	wse Activities	Collocations	Wordlist	🍰 My Cherry Basket
M Language a	ctivities:				
. Hangman		exercises	crea	te an exercise	
The word to guess	is represented b	y a row of dashes			
Every time you fail	to correctly gue	ss a letter, another	part of the diagr	am is drawn.	
The game is over w	hen either you h	lave correctly gue	ssed the word or	the diagram is comple	ted, whichever comes first.
Type: Individual	a share as a second		Line also sussed		
Instructions: Click	on the suggest	ing letters to comp	lete the word.	to an everying	
The unards of control	inces	exercises	Cred	te an exercise	
This activity helps y to practice on.	rices are scranu you study senter	nce structure by p	roviding you with	genuine text and allo	wing you to select suitable materials
Type: Individual					
Instructions: Put t	he bold words in	the correct order	by drag-drop the	m into the correct pos	sition.
. Word Guessing		exercises	crea	te an exercise	
Students enter wor	ds in the gaps, b	ased on the conte	xt within a given	article, individually or o	collaboratively.
This activity helps i	mprove your co	mmunication skills	and vocabulary.		
Type: Individual or	Group collabora	ation			
Completing Coll	on the gap and	avarcisas	(10)	to an avaraica	
Learners fill in a bla	ek to form a vali	exercises		te an exercise	
Type: Individual	IK to form a van	d word comonacio	ATI.		
Instructions:					
Scrambled Parag	raphs	exercises	crea	te an exercise	
The paragraphs of	a document are	scrambled and stu	idents must sort t	hem into their original (	order.
This activity helps y to practice on.	you study parag	raph structure by	providing you wi	h genuine text and alk	owing you to select suitable materials
Type: Individual	he namaranhe i	the correct order	bu dean dean the	the the correct po	- 11
Bunctuation and	le paragraphs =	avercises	by drag-drop the	en no ne coreci pos	sicion.
The punctuation and	capitalization	exercises	orte must incert th	te direxercise	
The punctuation of	a paragraph is i	emoved and stock	ents must insert u	e missing purctuation	a.
Type: Individual	/ou study the ro	le or punctuation i	n language.		
Instructions: Drac	and drap punct	tuations on the top	and put them in f	the right position.	
7. Split Sentences		exercises	crea	te an exercise	
A sentence is split i	n half and stude	nts must match the	halves together.		
This activity helps	you study sente	nce structure.			
Type: Individual					

Language activities associated with the Best of Password collection

# 4. Language activities

The purpose of FLAX is to present language activities, or games, to students to enhance their learning of a second language. The system is not, in fact, restricted to English, but some features work best if English is the target language – ones involving language parsing, for example (see Section 8.3 for a discussion of other languages).

Eleven activity types are available in FLAX to train learners' overall language ability and collocation ability. They are divided into two groups, as follows.

- Activities on Words, Sentences and Paragraphs
  - Hangman
  - Scrambled Sentences
  - Split Sentences
  - Scrambled Paragraphs
  - Word Guessing
  - Punctuation and Capitalization
- Activities on Collocations
  - Related Words
  - Collocation Matching
  - Collocation Dominoes
  - Collocation Guessing
  - Completing Collocations

In the stand-alone FLAX system, these can be accessed from the collection's home page using the *Activities* button, as shown. Beside each activity type, there are two buttons, *exercises* and *create an exercise*. The first leads to a list of exercises that have been created for this collection. The second allows you to create your own exercise. Anyone can do this – including students. In fact, it is particularly instructive for students to create activities to help reinforce something that they are learning.

However, although anyone can create exercises, only registered teachers can *save* them. To do so, you log in with a username and password using the button near the top right of the screen.<sup>8</sup>

In the Moodle FLAX system, the teacher builds individual exercises into the course, which is where students invoke them (see Section 6.3 for an explanation of FLAX activity creation in Moodle).

There is a further activity type that is specifically for collections of images:

- Activities on Image Collections
  - Image Guessing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> You can register as a user of the FLAX demonstration server at http://flax.nzdl.org by emailing your name and the name of the organization where you work or study to flax@cs.waikato.ac.nz.

## 4.1 Activities on words, sentences and paragraphs

Language learners compose text from words; they build words into sentences, and sentences into paragraphs. To do this they need knowledge of words, grammar, text structure and punctuation.

Learning a word involves knowing its various forms, both inflected and derived: its meaning, common usages, and collocations. Grammar constitutes a set of rules that govern the development of each individual sentence. Text structure refers to the ways that ideas can be joined together to form paragraphs, and ultimately complete texts. Punctuation helps organize text in ways that convey the appropriate meaning. These are all fundamental aspects of language learning.

FLAX offers a wide arrange of activities that help students acquire, practice, and master this basic essential knowledge.

We begin with words and sentences, starting with an ancient game that helps improve spelling and makes vocabulary learning fun – Hangman. The next activity, Scrambled Sentences, focuses on the construction of sentences; teachers can, if they wish, target different parts of a sentence to help expose students to the basic sentence units. The next activity, Split Sentences, is an advanced form of Scrambled Sentences that guides students towards more complex sentence structures, including various types of clause.

Moving up to the level of text structure, the Scrambled Paragraphs activity draws students' attention to the flow of the text, and forces them to observe clues that signal a change of topic. The Word Guessing activity is multipurpose; it exercises spelling, helps students internalize grammar rules, and generally improves reading skills.

The Punctuation and Capitalization activity, as you can imagine, helps familiarize learners with the rules of punctuation and capitalization.

All of these activities are introduced with examples from the *Best of Password* collection. However, when you learn how to make your own collections in Chapter 6 (it's easy!), you'll be able to make activities that use words from this week's class vocabulary list, and text from your last reading assignment – or from this morning's news!



A Hangman exercise

#### 4.1.1 Hangman

Hangman is a version of the classic paper and pencil word guessing game, designed to train players' spelling skills. The task is to guess an unknown word, one letter at a time. A mystery word is chosen for the student to guess, and is shown by a row of dashes representing the number of letters in it. When the player suggests a letter that occurs in the word, it is put in all its correct positions. If they suggest one that does not occur, one element of the stick figure is drawn. The game is over when the player completes the word, or when the diagram is finished – in which case the player has lost.

Players can increase the odds by guessing vowels or other high-frequency letters first. The twelve most frequent letters in English are, in descending order, *e, t, a, o, i, n, s, h, r, d, l,* and *u*, and almost every word contains at least one of the five vowels *a, e, i, o*, and *u*. Letters that have already been guessed correctly offer hints to the player. In addition, teachers can include hints while creating the activity.

The illustration shows a Hangman activity mid-game. *Accept* has been chosen as the mystery word (it appears in the "Why do you need to keep your first language?" article in *The Best of Password Collection*, which was used to build this particular game). The grayed-out letters have been guessed by the player. Those that do not occur in the word (*i*, *r*, and *s*) have resulted in parts of the stick figure being drawn. The letters that do occur (*c*, *e*, and *t*) were correctly placed in the word.

Since this exercise was created with hints, the player can click the light-bulb icon to view the hint provided for this word. In this case a brief definition is given (not shown).

The *Summary report*, accessible from the button at the top right, gives the start time, end time, score, and the student's final answer for each question.

This screenshot is from the Moodle version of FLAX. Everything looks identical in the standalone version, except that the page header is different.

In the Moodle version, all exercises, including this one, can be either "graded" or "ungraded." This screenshot is from an ungraded exercise. If grading is switched on, the *Previous question* button disappears and the *Next question* button is greyed out until the player guesses – or fails to guess – the word. Grades are recorded in the standard Moodle grading system, along with a detailed report that gives the student's answer for each question.

M Exercise parameters					
Choose article 🗿	Why do you need to keep your first language?         Working on organic farms         Fishing         Family history, genealogy and whakapapa         Kwi food         A Maori creation story         Adventure sports         Making goals for learning English				
Filter words by length (3)	Min 6 - Max 8 -				
Include hint 🕦	⊖Yes   No				
🛿 Number of words available					
	44				
🛿 Activity parameters					
Select: All / None					
accept, maintain, everyday, heritage, academic, danger, church, parent, dominant, system, retain, language, culture, cultural, easily, contact, identity, zealand, speaker, enormous, cannot, replace, settle, quickly, become, migrant, tertiary, family, priority, succeed, effort, country, strong, english, fluency, improve, believe, because, possible, regular, fluent, problem, service, special					
	Review (1) Display (1) Save (1)				

Designing a Hangman exercise

#### Teacher's interface for Hangman

It is very easy to create games like this. In stand-alone FLAX, go to the collection, click *Activities*, and click *create an exercise*. You will then see the form shown opposite. Note that the *Save* button is inactive, because although anyone can create and play games in the stand-alone interface, only registered teachers can save them. In order to save a game, first sign in using the *Login* button near the top right of the screen.

Alternatively, in Moodle, turn editing on; go to *Add an activity*; and select *FLAX language exercise*. Give it a name, ensure that the correct collection and exercise type is selected, and click *Edit content*. You will see exactly the same form, except that the buttons at the bottom are *Review*, *Save and exit*, and *Cancel*, instead of *Review*, *Display*, and *Save* as shown in the illustration opposite.

The simplest way to design a Hangman game is to accept all the defaults on this form. In Moodle, simply click *Save and exit*. In the stand-alone interface, click *Save* (if you're signed in), or just *Display* to play the game you've created.

There are several options that you can specify using this form. (Click on any of the yellow question-mark icons to learn more about each option.)

For instance, you can specify the article or articles that words are taken from. Multiple articles can be selected by clicking while holding down the Ctrl or Shift key. You can also choose the minimum and maximum length of words.

As you change the preceding parameters, the *Number of words available* changes dynamically to show how many words match the restrictions you have chosen. It is often a good idea to specify more words than you need, so that you can reject unsuitable ones if necessary.

Once you have selected your restrictions, click *Review* at the bottom of the form to look at all of the words available and specify which words should be selected for the exercise. Note that there is a limit of 20 words in an exercise. If you attempt to display or save the activity with more than 20 words selected, a message box will appear informing you that too many words have been selected. If you don't select any words, the first 20 will automatically be chosen (or, if fewer than 20 words are available, all of them will be included).

If you choose to include hints, a text box will be provided for every word you select, so you can specify a hint. You might suggest a letter for the player to guess, provide a synonym for the word, or a definition, or indeed any other text that you consider appropriate.

How to play Summary report

🛛 Lifelines

They will help you. You can go to with class a make friends and other newcomers. It is better when you have friends.

Total score: 0 Question No. 2 out of 5

Check Answer Previous question Next question

A scrambled sentence from "Lifelines"

		How to play	Summary report				
A Maori creation story							
Ranginui and Papatuanuku loved each around so other they always hugged each							
other, with their arms tight muc	h each other. Si	nce Ranginui was t	the sky and				
Papatuanuku was the earth, no light w	as able to shine be	tween them.					
Total score: 0 Question No. 1 out of 30							
	Check Answer	Previous questi	on Next question				

#### A scrambled sentence from "A Māori creation story"

		How to play	Summary report	
The kiwi bach				
There was lots to do. and Our often nothing! sofas on parents did just old lay around				
	Tot	al score: 0 Questi	ion No. 1 out of 18	
	Check Answer	Previous question	on Next question	

A more difficult scrambled sentence, from "The kiwi bach"

#### 4.1.2 Scrambled Sentences

In a Scrambled Sentence exercise, the words of sentences are rearranged and students must put them into their original order. You click the mouse on a word, drag it to the correct position, and drop it there. Only the blue words can be moved.

With FLAX, students are provided with genuine, authentic text, and the teacher can select suitable material for them to practice on.

These exercises enhance students' ability to group words into meaningful chunks, which is crucial to fluent reading. With practice, students become more adept at grouping words into phrases and sentences. As they put the sentences together, their awareness of both sentence structure and phrase structure improves. They soon learn to identify subjects and predicates, organize words into phrases, link adjectives and adverbs to the words they modify, and use conjunctions to provide cohesive ties.

The first illustration shows an exercise created from the article "Lifelines" in the *Best of Password* collection. Three words are misplaced (the ones in blue). The preceding and following sentences are given, to provide context (unless the chosen sentence is the first or last in a paragraph). The correct order here, of course, is *You can go to a class and make friends with other newcomers*. In general, complex structures or long sentences make the exercise more challenging – and perhaps frustrating.

If the words are moved into their correct positions and *Check Answer* is clicked, an encouraging message is displayed. Any words that are out of place are underlined in red. Students proceed to the next question, or, if they wish, return to earlier ones, using the buttons at the bottom.

The second illustration is from the "Māori Creation Story" in the same collection, again with three words misplaced (the sentence is *Ranginui and Papatuanuku loved each other so much they always hugged each other, with their arms tight around each other*). Had the proper nouns in a sentence like this been permuted, the task could be very difficult; teachers can avoid this when they create the exercise. A general principle that FLAX incorporates throughout is that the choices the system makes can always be overridden by the teacher – or not, at the teacher's discretion.

The third example is much harder, because almost all the words in the sentence are misplaced. (*Our parents often just lay around on old sofas and did nothing!*). Clues are provided by sentence-initial capitalization and sentence-final punctuation.

The *Summary report* button at the top right gives the start time, end time, score and the student's final answer for each question.

M Select sentences		
Difficulty level 🗿	Level 4 Level 1 Level 3 Level 2	
Sentence type 3	Simple 🗹 Complex 🕅	
Number of words in sentence ③	Min 3 - Max 30 -	
Contains words 🕦		
Choose sentences from article 👔	A Maori creation story Adventure sports Family history, genealogy and whakapapa Fishing Coing to the doctor Holiday plans Kiwi food Lifelines	
🛿 Number of sentences to choose from		
31		
X Activity parameters		
Select sentences 🔋	From 1 • To 31 •	
Number of words to scramble 👔	3 -	
Presentation order 🧿	Same for each student ○ Different for each student	
Order of sentences 🕖	Natural order in article 👻	
Review () Print () Display () Save ()		

Designing a Scrambled Sentences exercise

#### **Teacher's interface for Scrambled Sentences**

You can easily create a Scrambled Sentences exercise by accepting all the defaults on the *Edit exercise content* form shown. In Moodle, simply click *Save and exit*. In the stand-alone interface, click *Save* (if you're signed in), or just *Display* to play the activity you've created.

However, there are many options that you can specify using this form.

In the *Select Sentences* section, you can specify from which document or documents the sentences are taken, by either naming the articles or selecting a difficulty level. You can choose *Simple* (single clause) or *Complex* (multi-clause) sentences, specify how many words the sentences should contain (from 3 to 30 words by default), and even give a word or words that the target sentences must contain. Click on any of the yellow question-mark icons to learn more about each option.

The *Number of sentences to choose from*, halfway down the form, changes dynamically to show how many sentences match the restrictions you have chosen.

Under *Activity parameters*, you can specify which sentences should be selected for the exercise. Note that there is a limit of 50 sentences in an exercise. You can also specify the number of words to scramble, and whether the sentence order should be fixed, or differ for each student. If they are presented in a fixed order, you can specify whether it should be the natural order in the article, shortest or longest first, or random.

When you click *Review* at the bottom of the form, the sentences proposed for the activity will appear below. If some are unsuitable, deselect them using the checkbox beside them. It is often a good idea to specify more sentences than you need, so that you can reject unsuitable ones.

In stand-alone FLAX you can also make a printable version of the activity using the *Print* button, yielding a paper form for students to complete offline.

	How to play Summary report		
They believe this will help them	and culture is language.		
It is true	that it makes resettlement easier ?		
Many academics believe that language is culture	and many languages.		
But it is also very important	while their parents have not.		
In New Zealand there are many cultures	to settle more quickly into their new country.		
Often the children have become fluent English speakers	to retain your first language.		
Total score: 0 Question No. 1 out of 1			
Check An	swer Previous question Next question		

A Split Sentences exercise

#### 4.1.3 Split Sentences

A Split Sentences exercise shows parts of sentences on the left and right, and students must match the second half of each sentence to its first half. Split Sentences aims to train students to read in chunks. The longer the chunks, the fewer the eye movements. Chunk reading can increase reading speed and lead to better comprehension.

FLAX attempts to place divisions judiciously (but the teacher can override its choices). Good divisions can give students experience with sentences of different structure: simple, compound or complex. As students match the second half with the first half of a sentence, they learn to identify different sentence patterns and sentence elements. They also learn how to join words or groups of words together using conjunctions, and their attention is drawn to connectors that show relationships among elements of a sentence.

The illustration shows a Split Sentences exercise created from the article "Why do you need to keep your first language?" in the *Best of Password* collection. The left-hand parts are shown in black and the right-hand parts in blue. Students work by moving the blue text to the appropriate place. When *Check Answer* is clicked, the correct sentences turn black.

M Exercise parameters		
Choose article 👔	Why do you need to keep your first language? Working on organic farms Fishing Family history, genealogy and whakapapa Kiwi food A Maori creation story Adventure sports Making goals for learning English	
Number of words in sentence 🔞	Min 3 - Max 15 -	
Max sentences per page 🗿	10 -	
X Number of sentences available		
56		
M Review: 28 sentences selected		
They believe this will help them to settle more quickly into their new country.		
It is true that it makes resettlement easier? Remove sentence		
Many academics believe that language is culture and culture is language.		
But it is also very important to retain your first language.		
In New Zealand there are many cultures and many languages. Remove sentence		
Often the children have become fluent English speakers while their parents have not.		

Designing and reviewing a Split Sentences exercise

#### **Teacher's interface for Split Sentences**

Creating a Split Sentences exercise is very similar to creating a Scrambled Sentences exercise. The illustration shows the *Edit exercise content* form with modified options. Four articles have been selected (the first four), and they contain 56 sentences that match the *Number of words in sentence* criterion – here, between 3 and 15 words. These will be divided into groups of ten for presentation (set by the *Max sentences per page* parameter).

The *Review* button has been clicked, which shows how the sentences have been split. FLAX attempts to place the split point in a sensible location, but you can click and drag the red bar to adjust the position of the sentence split if necessary.

In each sentence, FLAX's automatic splitting method looks for the following features, in this order:

- prepositions and subordinating conjunctions (*if, that, because, as, since*, etc.),
- coordinating conjunctions (*and*, *or*, *but*),
- wh-words (where, what, when, why, which, whose, ...),
- the word to, and
- semicolons or commas.

If one of these is located in the sentence, the split is placed before it. If none appear, the split is made at the sentence's halfway point.

Many migrants to New Zealand believe that they should concentrate on learning as much English as possible, as quickly as possible.

Some of these communities have made a great effort to improve this situation by running special language classes for their children, to teach them the language of their parents. Other communities have encouraged the maintenance of their first language in language nests, after-school programmes, and in church services. Communities and families who have regular contact with their home country also have less difficulty maintaining their first language.

In New Zealand there are many cultures and many languages. Communities which have made learning English a priority for their children have found after a few years that families are having problems communicating with each other. Often the children have become fluent English speakers while their parents have not. And the children have lost much of their first language, so parents and children are not able to easily communicate with each other. The children are also less able to take pride in their cultural heritage, but yet are not fully accepted by their peers in the dominant culture.

But it is also very important to retain your first language. If language is culture and culture is language, then a migrant is in danger of losing his/her cultural identity if the first language is allowed to disappear. Although the shift to fluency in English may be slower if first language use is maintained, the importance of keeping the values of your first culture alive are enormous.

Many academics believe that language is culture and culture is language. A migrant wanting to settle permanently in an English- speaking country will need to learn English to learn the culture of that country.

They believe this will help them to settle more quickly into their new country. It seems to be even more important when they have children, to encourage the children to learn English quickly. It is true that it makes resettlement easier? it is easier to do everyday things if you can understand and be understood by those you need to deal with. It is easier to get employment, it is easier for children to succeed in a new education system, it is easier for tertiary study.

In New Zealand the Maori language was almost lost and many Maori felt lost because of that. Now there are opportunities for learning this language from an early age and the culture is becoming stronger at the same time.

To be bilingual is to speak two languages and have knowledge and understanding of two cultures. You cannot become truly bilingual if your first language is allowed to be replaced by your new language.

Total score: 0 Question No. 1 out of 1

Check Answer Previous question Next question

A Scrambled Paragraphs exercise

#### 4.1.4 Scrambled Paragraphs

Scrambled Paragraphs is similar to Scrambled Sentences, but instead of re-arranging words in a sentence, entire paragraphs are displaced and the player must restore them to their original order.

This activity draws students' attention to the structure of a particular text, the main idea of each paragraph and the coherence from one paragraph to the next. It draws attention to linking words ("connectors") that connect paragraphs or show relationships between different ideas. Also, it teaches skimming skills; students learn to read only important words in order to grasp the main idea of a piece of text. With practice, students learn to analyze different structures, identify topic sentences, and look for transition signals. As with other FLAX activities, students work on authentic text, and the teacher can select suitable material for them to practice on.

In the illustration, a Scrambled Paragraphs exercise has been created using the article "Why do you need to keep your first language?" in *The Best of Password* collection. The blue paragraphs can be moved up and down with the mouse, but black ones are fixed. Here the teacher has chosen to fix the first and last paragraphs. When you click *Check Answer*, if everything is correct, all paragraphs turn black. If your answer is only partially correct, the incorrectly-placed paragraphs remain blue.

Scrambled Paragraphs exercises can contain several questions, each based on a different document.
X Exercise parameters			
Choo	se article 👔	Why do you need to keep your first language?         Working on organic farms         Fishing         Family history, genealogy and whakapapa         Kiwi food         A Maori creation story         Adventure sports         Making goals for learning English	
¥ Ad	ctivity parameters		
Fix p	aragraphs? 🕐	Fix first and last paragraphs 👻	
Pres	entation order 👔	Same for each student  Different for each student	
🔰 Re	view: 1 question selected		
Quest	tion 1		
1.	Many migrants to New Zealand believ as quickly as possible.	e that they should concentrate on learning as much English as possible,	
4.	But it is also very important to retain y migrant is in danger of losing his/her o the shift to fluency in English may be s values of your first culture alive are en	our first language. If language is culture and culture is language, then a cultural identity if the first language is allowed to disappear. Although lower if first language use is maintained, the importance of keeping the ormous.	
3.	Many academics believe that language permanently in an English- speaking co	e is culture and culture is language. A migrant wanting to settle ountry will need to learn English to learn the culture of that country.	
7.	In New Zealand the Maori language w opportunities for learning this languag time.	as almost lost and many Maori felt lost because of that. Now there are e from an early age and the culture is becoming stronger at the same	
5.	In New Zealand there are many culture a priority for their children have found each other. Often the children have be children have lost much of their first la each other. The children are also less a by their peers in the dominant culture.	es and many languages. Communities which have made learning English after a few years that families are having problems communicating with come fluent English speakers while their parents have not. And the inguage, so parents and children are not able to easily communicate with able to take pride in their cultural heritage, but yet are not fully accepted	
2.	They believe this will help them to set important when they have children, to resettlement easier? it is easier to do e need to deal with. It is easier to get er system, it is easier for tertiary study.	tle more quickly into their new country. It seems to be even more encourage the children to learn English quickly. It is true that it makes everyday things if you can understand and be understood by those you mployment, it is easier for children to succeed in a new education	
6.	Some of these communities have made classes for their children, to teach ther maintenance of their first language in I Communities and families who have re maintaining their first language.	e a great effort to improve this situation by running special language in the language of their parents. Other communities have encouraged the anguage nests, after-school programmes, and in church services. Egular contact with their home country also have less difficulty	
8.	To be bilingual is to speak two langua become truly bilingual if your first lang	iges and have knowledge and understanding of two cultures. You cannot guage is allowed to be replaced by your new language.	

Review 🗿 Display 🗿 Save 🗿

# Designing and reviewing a Scrambled Paragraphs exercise

#### Teacher's interface for Scrambled Paragraphs

As usual, these games can be created quickly. As the illustration shows, there are only a few controls on the *Edit exercise content* form. You can select an article, or several articles (using the usual method of Ctrl/Shift-clicking); each article will generate one question in the exercise. The *Fix paragraphs* parameter allows you to choose whether any paragraphs are fixed, and if so, whether the first, last, or both. "Fixing" a paragraph means that it will appear in the correct place on the student's screen and be immovable. You can also select whether or not the paragraphs will be presented in the same order for every student.

In the form shown, the *Review* button has been pressed, displaying the exercise in the lower part of the screen. The numbers beside each paragraph indicate the correct order. If you choose "same for each student" for *Presentation Order*, the paragraphs will be in the order in which students will see them, and you can move paragraphs around here to make the exercise easier or more difficult. For example, you could put all paragraphs in the correct place except for two, whose order is switched. However, if the presentation order is different for each student, the order will be random for each student.

In general, FLAX selects exercise material automatically, but the *Review* facility allows teachers to exercise control over the content to ensure that it is suitable for students.

#### Words for the gaps

a, and, any, are, car, course, experience, experience, farm, farms, farms, for, holiday, http://www.wwoof.co.nz, in, like, might, need, of, or, sometimes, started, stay, stay, There, to, to, usually, want, was, When, work, worked, Wwoof, You

## Working on organic farms



#### Word guessing, with hints provided



Guess the verbs!

## 4.1.5 Word Guessing

The Word Guessing game is similar to "Fill in the blanks" that is widely used for testing knowledge of vocabulary and syntax, as well as ability in reading comprehension. Words are removed from an article and students must put them back. These target words can be content words, such as nouns, verbs, adjectives and adverbs, or function words, such as prepositions, pronouns, conjunctions and auxiliaries.

The first illustration uses an article called "Working on organic farms." The player has guessed four words correctly, corresponding to gaps number 1, 2, 4 and 5 – indicated by superscripts that precede the words the user has typed (*like*, *Wwoof*, *of* and *farms* respectively). However, in gap 6 the player entered the wrong word, *want*, a red box indicates that this is incorrect and should be changed. Currently, the player has clicked on gap 3 (for which the correct word is *started*). Instead of clicking, the tab key can be used to move to the next gap.

This is a difficult exercise, but is made a little easier because the teacher has included hints – the word list at the top. (Some words appear more than once because they fill different gaps.) The student can also hear the spoken text. This can be played using the widget above the story. As the number of omitted words increases, the activity gradually becomes a conventional dictation exercise.

In this illustration, the system has randomly determined which words to omit. Teachers can review the system's choices and override them. This is necessary in case, by chance, a proper name or foreign word has been omitted, which users could hardly be expected to guess (e.g., the word *Wwoof* here).

As an alternative to random selection, words of a particular part of speech can be omitted. FLAX determines parts of speech using a computer algorithm, which is not guaranteed to be completely correct – but again, the teacher can override its choices if necessary. The second illustration, based on a different article, focuses on verbs, and the learner must enter the correct verb with the correct form. In this case the teacher did not provide any hints.

Again, the *Summary report* button at the top right gives the start time, end time, and the words that have been correctly guessed. In the Moodle version, a report is produced that shows, for each user, the words that were correctly answered, and the order in which they were answered. In addition, if the exercise is graded, the results are recorded in the Moodle gradebook.

The Moodle version can operate in "group mode." Here, FLAX updates every student's screen any time someone in the class fills in a gap. A scoreboard at the bottom of the screen shows the top three students, and mousing over it shows how everyone is doing. This spurs competition – to score well, students must work fast! In group mode, participants can type messages to one another using a *Chat to others* button that appears beside the *Summary report* button at the top right.

M Select documents	
Difficulty level 👔	Level 4 Level 1 Level 3 Level 2
Mumber of documents to choose from	
	20
🛿 Activity parameters	
Choose article 🕐	Adventure sports
Choose words based on 👔	◎ Gap size ® Word type
Gap size 👔	10 *
Word type 🗿	Verb Adjective Adverb Preposition Determiner -
Hint 📵	None •
Include audio with document? 🔞	● Yes <sup>©</sup> No
Mode 💿	Individual Croup
🛿 Review: 44 gaps in Article	

Words of gaps (?) are attracted are have developed is facing overcoming take are provide rafting be stays ensure provide follows is called go jet-boating have fasten powering swooping is goes provided is see close lowered are experience is sit are sit steer moving is is go ski

#### Adventure sports

Many young tourists are attracted to New Zealand because of the exciting adventures that are easily available.

Young New Zealanders have developed these activities because of the special thrill there is in facing and overcoming danger. The adventures can take place on land, in the air or in the water.

Water sports are very popular. The many fast-flowing rivers provide the opportunity for <u>rafting</u> -- particularly in the Bay of Plenty and around Queenstown. Trips can be from a few hours to several days, and a trained guide <u>stays</u> with the group to <u>ensure</u> safety and <u>provide</u> all the necessary equipment. If the trip <u>follows</u> the river underground through caves, it is <u>called</u> black-water rafting. On these rivers you can also <u>go jet-boating</u>. You will have to <u>fasten</u> your seat belt before <u>powering</u> through narrow rocky places or <u>swooping</u> along shallow streams.

A recent activity is canyoning, where the adventure junkie goes down rivers, waterfalls and rock faces all provided by nature. For those who like diving, it is possible to see make sharks close up from inside the safety of a cage lowered into the water.

There are adventures on land, too. Wind-powered go-karts race along sandy beaches at high speed, and zorbing (a Kiwi invention) has you strapped inside a plastic ball that rolls downhill at speeds of up to 50km per hour.

To experience thrills in the air, there is fly-by-wire, another Kiwi invention. In this sport you sit in a car and swing to and fro like a pendulum. The thermal air currents in the central Otago region are perfect for parapenting -- a mixture of hang-gliding and parachuting. You sit in a harness under a small parachute that you can steer, moving along on the air currents. Sky-diving is even more thrilling, starting with the 30 seconds of free fall at the alarming speed of 200km per hour when you jump from the plane, but then the parachute opens and you drift down and enjoy the view. A combination activity that is most enjoyable is heli-skiing. You go up the mountains in the helicopter, and land at the top of a good slope. Then you simply ski down. There is a 10-kilometre run from the Tasman Glacier in Mt Cook National Park.

Review 🧿 Print 🧿 Display 🗿 Save 🧿

#### Designing and reviewing a Word Guessing game

### Teacher's interface for Word Guessing

To create a Word Guessing game, first select an article (if you like, you can specify a difficulty level first). You can either choose the words to omit based on the gap size, and specify the gap size, or choose certain parts of speech. In the latter case you can select one or more of the following:

- Verb,
- Noun,
- Adjective,
- Adverb,
- Preposition, and
- Determiner.

You can also choose what kind of hint to give:

- None,
- First letter,
- First and last letter,
- Word list (at the top of the screen),
- Word list and first letter, and
- Word list and first and last letter.

You can also choose whether to provide the audio version of the document (if any).

If you are using Moodle, you can choose Individual mode or Group mode.

Finally, you can review and override the system's choices about which words to omit. It's a good idea to do this, otherwise you may be setting your students the impossible task of guessing obscure proper nouns, or exposing them to errors made by FLAX when identifying parts of speech.

To review and modify the game, click the *Review* button at the bottom of the form. The game appears below, as shown in the accompanying illustration (under the heading "Adventure sports," which is the chosen article). Click any gap to return the word to the text. If you change your mind, click the word again to reinstate the gap.

If you are using stand-alone FLAX, you can make a printable version using the *Print* button, which produces a paper form for students to complete offline.

How to play Summary report

## . , ! ?

many migrants to new zealand believe that they should concentrate on learning as much english as possible as quickly as possible

they believe this will help them to settle more quickly into their new country it seems to be even more important when they have children to encourage the children to learn english quickly it is true that it makes resettlement easier it is easier to do everyday things if you can understand and be understood by those you need to deal with it is easier to get employment it is easier for children to succeed in a new education system it is easier for tertiary study

many academics believe that language is culture and culture is language A migrant wanting to settle permanently in an english- speaking country will need to learn english to learn the culture of that country

A Punctuation and Capitalization exercise

## 4.1.6 Punctuation and Capitalization

Punctuation and Capitalization exercises ask the user to place punctuation marks in the appropriate positions, and to put capital letters on words that need them. In order to do this, students need to understand the flow of text and identify individual sentences. FLAX uses the most common punctuation marks, namely "." (full stop, or period), "," (comma), "!" (exclamation mark), and "?" (question mark), and also, optionally, apostrophe.

Punctuation and capitalization are important in writing. Punctuation marks indicate the structure and organization of written language, as well as intonation and pauses when reading aloud. Capitalization helps readers find information more quickly.

These exercises help students learn how to use punctuation correctly, how to distinguish one sentence from the next, and how to indicate a break or pause within a sentence. Students also learn about the rules for capitalization.

The illustration is taken from the "Why do you need to keep your first language" article in *The Best of Password* collection. You can select the punctuation marks at the top with your mouse, drag them along the text word by word, and drop them wherever you want. If you change your mind, you can remove the mark by clicking on it.

When you mouse over a letter in the sentence, it turns temporarily into a large capital letter, and if you click it, it remains capitalized. In the illustration, the user has moused over the "A" in the phrase "A migrant wanting to settle..." (near the end), and the letter is temporarily enlarged; if the player were to click, it would turn into an ordinary capital "A". In this case that would be the right thing to do, because this is the first word of a sentence. In addition, a period should be added after the last word, *country*, to terminate the sentence.

X Exercise parameters		
Choose article 🖲	The parliamentary system in NZ Writing poetry in English The kwi bach Preserving Te Reo Maori Lifelines Coing to the doctor Holiday plans	
M Activity parameters		
Capital letters 🔋	Remove all capital letters -	
Remove apostrophes 🔋	© Yes ● No	
Question type 🗿	Whole document      Paragraph by paragraph	
MReview: 6 questions selected		
do you have a hobbysome people like to go Show answer Remove question	o swimming or grow flowers and vegetables in a garden or play cards	
some people like to go to a library and read hobbywhat do you like to do in your spare	I books and magazines or watch tv or listen to musicwhat is your time	
jim's hobby is beekeepinghe is a beekeeper near his housethe beehive has four white bo house with no windowsbees live in a beehiv Show answer Remove question	he looks after bees to get honeyjim has a beehive in his gardenit is xeseach box has a floor and a roofit looks like a very very small ve	
each beehive has only one queen bee but th busyshe is bigger than the worker bees and new baby bees work inside the beehive for Show answer Remove question	here may be 60000 bees in one beehivethe queen bee is always she can lay over 2000 eggs every daythese eggs will be new beesthe 20 days and then they become worker bees	
every day unless the weather is very wet the carry the nectar back to the beehive in their nectar into honeythey put the honey into fran Show answer Remove question	worker bees fly away and get nectar and pollen from flowersthey stomachs and they carry the pollen on their legsthe bees make the mes of beeswax in the beehive	
jim works hard to get a lot of honey from his beeshe keeps his body covered especially stings him but the lovely honey is worth som Show answer Remove question	beehive in summer he wears special clothes when he works with his his facehe often uses smoke to control the beessometimes a bee ne bee stings don't you think	
Rev	riew 🗿 Display 🇿 Save 🌒	

Designing and reviewing a *Punctuation and Capitalization* exercise

#### Teacher's interface for Punctuation and Capitalization

The Punctuation and Capitalization exercise options are similar to those of other exercises. The illustration shows the *Edit exercise content* screen in Moodle. First, you choose the article (or articles) from which the text should be taken. Then, you set the three *Activity parameters*.

You can choose to remove all the capital letters, only sentence-initial capitals, or no capitals at all – in which case the exercise will simply test punctuation. You can also decide whether or not apostrophes should be removed.

Finally, you can decide whether, when the exercise is presented, the paragraphs of the documents are shown individually, or whether each entire document is shown at once, as a whole.

In the *Review* panel you can remove individual paragraphs, or inspect the answer first before deciding whether or not to keep a paragraph.

Describe your image to me Guesser ? Please enter your name: Please choose your role: Who is logged in?	e Oresser © Describer	Image Guessing game is played by a describer and a guesser working together. The describer describes the picture on his screen to the guesser, while the guesser tries to guess which picture it is among a number of similar pictures.
Unpaired players	Paired players	
	Describer Gu	taser
No one	No one No	one

## Signing in for Image Guessing

	How to pla	v Su
00:00:20		
four game partner is Ian		
an: What does your image look like? he: It is a yellow pattern on a grey background.		
fan: I have a lot of those. Tell me more.		
ne: It contains a lot of bendy lines, and a big		
done compress		
Type message then hit Enter		

#### What the describer sees

M 00:00:05	How to play Summary report
Your game partner is <b>Shaoqun</b> me: What does your image look like? <b>Shaoqun</b> : It is a yellow pattern on a grey background. me: I have a lot of those. Tell me more. <b>Shaoqun</b> : It contains a lot of bendy lines, and a big square outside.	
Туре тегере тел пе Боче	

## What the guesser sees

## 4.1.7 Image Guessing

Image Guessing is a cooperative game based on an image collection. It involves two players, called the *describer* and the *guesser*.

The describer sees a single image, while the guesser sees thumbnails of all images in the collection. The guesser's aim is to determine which is the one the describer sees.

Players communicate through chat; the guesser can ask questions about which image it is, and the describer can type what it is that they see. To make themselves understood, they must express ideas unambiguously. Because they cannot use gestures or body language to hint at what they mean as in face-to-face communication, students deploy more complex structures, produce longer sentences, and order the words correctly.

Guessing games are suitable for all ages and levels, and can be fun for students. This one helps to improve communication skills, descriptive power, writing ability, and domain-specific vocabulary. Teachers can build an image collection in a particular domain that will reinforce the kind of vocabulary they are trying to teach.

The first illustration shows what learners see when they enter the game. The system pairs up students on a first come, first served basis. At any time there may be several pairs of students playing, and one or more "singles" waiting to play. Students choose whether to sign up as guesser or describer. If there is another single who has chosen the opposite role, the game starts immediately. Otherwise the student receives a message asking them to wait until someone else enters the game and chooses the opposite role.

The game begins as soon as a match is made. In the example depicted, the describer and guesser see the second and third image respectively. They type into the text box (beneath the list of messages), and when they press *return* the new message appears on their partner's screen as well. In the conversation shown, Ian (the describer) asks his partner Shaoqun (the guesser) what she sees. She responds that her image is a yellow pattern on a gray background. Ian responds that he can see lots of those, and requests more information. Shaoqun is then pressed into describing the image in more specific terms.

All the while, the clock is ticking (shown towards the top left of each image). The game ends when the guesser clicks the correct image, or when time expires.



Designing an Image Guessing game

#### Teacher's interface for Image Guessing

For Image Guessing, the teacher selects the images that will be used in the game and determines how much time to allow when it is played.

The difficulty of the exercise is governed by the content of the particular image collection used, which teachers can build for their student population. Simple images – for example, fruit, animals or cartoons – are easy for lower-level students to describe. More complex ones – for example, landscapes or abstract patterns – are more suitable for advanced students.

Teachers with classes of different abilities can build a single collection containing images of different kinds and assign them appropriate difficulty level metadata (*Advanced* and *Intermediate* in the illustration). This metadata can be used to determine which images are selected for a particular game. Alternatively, the teacher can click individual images to deselect or select them.

## 4.2 Activities on collocations

Collocations are very important in language learning. Novice text tends to be cumbersome and error prone because of insufficient collocation knowledge. Learners struggle to speak fluently because they have to laboriously put sentences together word by word. Students with good ideas often lose marks in writing assignments, because they don't know the most important collocations of a keyword that is central to their topic. For example, in an essay on "Smoking" one student wrote *the smokers who rely on cigarettes and have to smoking everyday* instead of using phrases like *heavy smoker* or *addicted to smoking*. Collocation knowledge affects both accuracy and fluency, and is important for all learners – particularly those who strive for a high degree of competence in a second language.

What exactly is a collocation? According to linguists, it is a conventionalized word sequence – a phenomenon found in any natural language. For example, we say *heavy smoker* instead of *strong smoker*, or *strong tea* instead of *powerful tea*. Such sequences are referred to by various names: lexical items, prefabricated chunks, routinized formula, formulaic sequences, conventionalized language forms, fixed or semi-fixed expressions, and so on. From a statistical point of view the term denotes two or more consecutive words with a special behavior – they occur together with a frequency that is greater than random. From our point of view as language teachers, collocations are simply "word combinations that I think my students would not expect to find together." FLAX identifies as collocations all high-frequency word combinations that follow one of these five syntactic patterns: <u>verb + noun</u>, <u>adjective + noun</u>, <u>noun + noun</u>, <u>noun + of + noun</u>, and <u>preposition + noun</u>.

FLAX provides strong support for collocation learning. It contains a massive collocation database that is built from a large corpus of text (see Chapter 7). It includes activities that make collocation learning fun and dynamic:

- Related Words,
- Collocation Matching,
- Collocation Dominoes,
- Collocation Guessing, and
- Completing Collocations.

In each case, teachers choose the words they want their students to work on and FLAX automatically retrieves their most common collocations from the database for selection by the teacher. Related Words and Collocation Matching help students differentiate words with similar meaning and usage. Collocation Dominoes and Collocation Guessing help extend learners' collocation knowledge. Unlike the other activities, Completing Collocations uses collocations generated from a document collection to facilitate topic specific collocation acquisition.

		How to play Summary report
abolish (1)	delete (2)	
abolish exchange controls	delete files	
delete data	abolish the poll tax	
mail	abolish the monarchy	
the message	slavery	
		Total score: 0/8
		Check Answer

## A Related Words exercise

			How to play	Summary report
	abolish (0)	delete (0)		
	abolish exchange controls	delete files		
	delete data	abolish the poll tax		
	delete mail	abolish the monarchy		
	delete the message	abolish slavery		
<ul> <li>After inspecting examination</li> </ul>	an item of mail, each user can elect to o	delete the message or retain it fo	or later	
<ul> <li>Each user, having examination, or 1</li> </ul>	is provided an item of mail, can elect to have it formatted to a file for printing.	delete the message, retain it for	r later	Total score: 8/8 Check Answer

# Checking the answer and learning the context

## 4.2.1 Related Words

Language learners tend to rely on dictionaries to distinguish different shades of meaning of similar words such as *speak* and *tell*. However, it is time-consuming and frustrating to have to study alternative definitions and compare them, and dictionaries do not always provide sufficient examples or adequate explanation.

The Related Words activity helps learners distinguish between commonly confused words. Teachers select two or three related words that they wish to target, and the system retrieves the collocations of these words from the British National Corpus, a standard corpus of British English.

The words *abolish* and *delete* have been chosen for the illustration. The top screen shows the activity part way though. The learner has completed the phrases *delete data*, *delete files*, *abolish the monarchy*, *abolish the poll tax*, and *abolish exchange controls*. Three incomplete phrases are left: *the message*, *slavery*, and *mail*; and the header words at the top of the columns show that there remains one instance of *abolish* and two of *delete* (these are the numbers in brackets). The player uses the mouse to drag a header word and drop it into the appropriate phrase. To undo a match, click the phrase.

When the player clicks *Check Answer*, the correct collocations turn green and incorrect matches revert to the original. Green collocations can be clicked to see examples in context, taken from the British National Corpus. Here the correct phrase *delete the message* has been clicked to show two sentences that contain it; the phrase itself is in bold text.

🛛 Exercise parameters	
First word 🔋	abolish
Second word 🗿	delete
Third word (optional) (2)	
Collocation Type 👔	verb + noun (tell the truth) -
Number of collocations 🕑	10 -
abolish	Select Al
abolish the poll tax (7)	abolish security of (2)
abolish barristers (4)	abolish commoners (2)
abolish blood sports (3)	abolish the teacher (2)
abolish the monarchy (3)	abolish apartheid (2)
abolish the distinction (3)	abolish slavery (2)
delete	Select All
delete files (4)	delete keys to (2)
delete the words (4)	delete text (2)
delete mail (3)	delete clause (2)
delete the infected program (2)	delete the proposal from (2)
delete data (2)	delete characters (2)
Rev	iew 🕦 Display 🌒 Save 🅦

Designing a Related Words exercise

#### **Teacher's interface for Related Words**

Creating this and other collocation activities differs from the ones we have seen earlier because the material does not come from a particular article or document collection. The teacher specifies two or three target words and desired syntactic pattern, and FLAX retrieves collocations from the database and displays them in descending order of occurrence frequency for the teacher to make selections.

The illustration uses the same words as above, *abolish* and *delete*, which have similar meanings, but are used in quite different contexts. Collocations are distinguished by their syntactic type, and the type <u>verb + noun</u> has been chosen. The alternatives are the other syntactic patterns mentioned earlier, namely <u>adjective + noun</u>, <u>noun + noun</u>, <u>noun + of + noun</u>, and <u>preposition + noun</u>. Our two chosen words are unambiguously verbs, and none of these patterns would return any collocations, but it is often the case that the same word appears in collocations of different types – particularly if it is a noun.

After clicking the *Review* button you are shown 10 collocations of each word, as in the image. The number in brackets indicates the frequency of the collocation in the corpus. Your job is to use the check boxes to select a few that are appropriate for your students. Initially all collocations are selected, and you can click to deselect them individually. Alternatively, click the *Deselect All* button and then select the ones you want.

You can click any phrase to view the sentences that contain it, which will help you decide on the best ones to choose. These are the examples that your students will see if they request them, as for *delete the message* in the previous section.

	How to play Summary report
slice	of information
part	of toast
drop	of the process
piece	of water
	Total score: 0 Question No. 6 out of 6
	Check Answer Previous question Next question

A Collocation Matching exercise

	How to play	Summary report
slice	of toast	
part	of the process	
drop	of water	
piece	of information	
<ul> <li>One piece of information on its own is not necessa</li> <li>Keep asking: but why is that piece of information a</li> <li>Sconer or later, monologues like this, some really vita</li> <li>This last piece of information was passed Harry D celebrated throughout the enclave.</li> <li>Indeed, knowing the cause would restrict our reading we can probably do without.</li> </ul>	urily useful. essential?. al <b>piece of information</b> was liable to emerge. Punstaple, whose skill as a gunner was now g of the poems, it is the one <b>piece of information</b>	<b>tion No.</b> 6 out of 6 <b>ion</b> Next question

Examples of the collocation *piece of information* from the British National Corpus

## 4.2.2 Collocation Matching

The Collocation Matching activity takes several words and selects one collocation (or perhaps a few) for each word, generally with the same syntactic collocation type. This is similar to the previous activity, Related Words; the difference is that Collocation Matching is intended for use with several words with typically just one collocation for each, whereas Related Words is intended to focus on two (or three) words, with several collocations of each. Collocation matching is a popular practice in language classrooms; the aim is to help learners distinguish words with similar meanings, or words that have the same usage.

For example, the verbs *condense*, *shorten*, *compress*, and *abbreviate* all mean "to make something less, shorter or smaller," but are used in different ways. In this activity, phrases like *condense the story*, *shorten the time*, *compress the video*, and *abbreviate certain words* might be presented, so that players learn to identify the difference between these verbs in terms of their collocations.

Another example is shown in the accompanying illustrations. The quantification words *slice*, *part*, *drop*, and *piece* have been split from their associated nouns and shuffled. The player's task is to match the left-hand quantification words with their right-hand nouns by dragging and dropping them in a way that creates the strongest partnership. Just as for the Related Words activity, players can check the answer, and click any correct match to read sample sentences in the British National Corpus.

When you have completed the exercise, you can click on any of the phrases to see sentences that include that phrase. For example, in the lower illustration, the user has clicked *piece of information*.

arget words 🔋	drop slice bar chunk		
Collocation type 🕐	noun + of + noun (slice of bread) -		
lumber of collocations 🗿	10 •		
drop	Select Al		
drop of water (31)	edge of the drop (4)		
drop of blood (15)	drop of rum (4)		
drop of rain (11)	drop of whisky (4)		
drop of alcohol (7)	chop of oil (4)		
drop of wine (6)	drop of brandy (3)		
slice	Select All		
Ice of bread (37)	slice of the action (7)		
slice of toast (21)	slice of history (6)		
slice of cake (17)	slice of the market (5)		
slice of ham (11)	slice of life (4)		
slice of lemon (10)	slice of cheese (3)		
bar	Select AI		
☑ bar of chocolate (31)	side of the bar (6)		
bar of soap (28)	door of the bar (5)		
end of the bar (24)	back of the bar (5)		
corner of the bar (10)	length of the bar (4)		
underside of the bar (6)	axis of the bar (4)		
chunk	Select AI		
Chunk of text (3)	chunk of the money (2)		
chunk of discourse (3)	chunk of time (2)		
chunk of my life (3)	chunk of pink polystyrene (2)		
chunk of bread (3)	chunk of metal (2)		
chunk of meat (2)	chunk of data (2)		

Designing a Collocation Matching exercise

#### **Teacher's interface for Collocation Matching**

The only real difference between Collocation Matching and Related Words is in how they are intended to be used, and the student interface reflects the differing usages.

The teacher's interfaces are identical. However, the intention of Collocation Matching is for the teacher to type in a list of several target words instead of just two or three.

As before, one suitable collocation type is chosen. For the example words *drop*, *slice*, *bar*, and *chunk*, which are quantification words,  $\underline{noun + of + noun}$  is an appropriate target pattern.

There are several collocations for each word. With the words *drop*, *slice*, *bar*, and *chunk*, the single most frequent collocation of each was chosen for the first example shown earlier: *drop of water*, *slice of bread*, *bar of chocolate*, and *chunk of text*. It is probably best to follow this strategy of selecting just one collocation for each word. Otherwise, repeated target words will occur on the left-hand column of the learner interface, as in the second example shown earlier, and the exercise will be more difficult.

			How to play	Summary report
time life	trade address store	ook cycle furniture	e period	
family life period	life cycle unions	time	time period	
			1	Total score: 0 / 10 Check Answer





Examples of the collocation family life from the British National Corpus

## 4.2.3 Collocation Dominoes

English word classes are incredibly flexible: many verbs can be used as nouns and many nouns can be used as adjectives. Even advanced learners often feel uncomfortable using certain word combinations, particularly <u>noun + noun</u> collocations. Collocation Dominoes is a language game designed to help learners notice the use of these fixed expressions.

In Collocation Dominoes, the last word of one collocation becomes the first word of the next:

family life - life cycle - cycle time - time period ...

The first illustration shows an incomplete game comprising <u>noun + noun</u> collocations with the starting word "family". The words that fill the blanks are at the top, in blue, and the learner proceeds by dragging one of them with the mouse and dropping it into a box. According to the rules of dominoes, adjacent pairs of boxes must contain the same word – so when the user places a word in one, the system automatically puts it in the other. Moves can always be undone by clicking a word in a box.

When the user clicks *Check Answer*, any incorrectly formed collocations revert to empty boxes, and correct ones can be clicked to view sample contexts in which they occur.

You can click on any collocation you have got correct to see sentences that use it. For example, in the bottom image the user has clicked a collocation box that shows *family life*.

X Exercise parameters			
Starting collocation type (2)		noun + noun (rain forest) •	
M Activity parameters			
Select the next collocation match? ()		O Automatic @ Manual	
Number of collocations to select 🖲		10 -	
family life life cycle cycle (noun)	<pre><select> routes routes ride time length track lanes facilities paths hire use race</select></pre>	Display 3 Save 3	
	tranic tour campaign heimets team repeats		

Designing a Collocation Dominoes exercise

#### Teacher's interface for Collocation Dominoes

To design a Collocation Dominoes game, you need to choose a starting collocation type from four possible syntactic patterns, <u>noun + noun</u>, <u>noun + of + noun</u>, <u>verb + noun</u>, and <u>noun + verb</u>. These patterns have been chosen because they make it relatively easy to form a set of dominoes.

Next you use the drop-down menu to determine how many collocations FLAX should consider when selecting each domino. Collocations are ordered based on frequency, and in most cases the top 10 most frequent collocations should be sufficient. The number is a compromise; if the game includes low frequency collocations, it may be too challenging for learners, whereas if the number of possible choices is small, FLAX may be unable to create a game.

FLAX is able to build up a set of dominoes automatically; you need only specify the starting word and the number of dominoes. For example, in the illustration the teacher has entered the starting word *family*, and FLAX has come up with the collocations *family life* and *life cycle*. If you are dissatisfied with any choice it makes, you can manually re-select the collocation type, or the collocation word, from a drop-down menu. The teacher here is selecting *time* as the word to follow *cycle*. If you do this, any subsequent collocations will disappear (because the next collocation depends on the previous one), and FLAX will recompute them.

If you prefer, you can choose to create a Collocation Dominoes game manually. In that case, you can select the syntactic pattern and content word for every domino.

				8	How to play	Summary report
capability mature	Possible answer	words: ripe	ability	reply		
levels of				Bricks left: 2 Attempts: 0		
intellectual						
reading	***					
lack of	_ 10		-			
linguistic						
range						
have the	to					
Type in you	r guessed wo	rd:		1		
1000				Total s	core: 0 Quest	ion No. 1 out of 6
				Ŧ	revious questi	on Next question

A Collocation Guessing exercise

	How to play Summary report
Possible words: ability mature ripe capability reply answer	
development of the ability       repr       repr       repr         development of the ability       Invest         intellectual ability       Invest       Invest         intellectual ability       intellectual ability       Invest         develop the ability       intellectual ability       Invest         develop the ability       Inguistic ability       Intellectual ability         ability       ability       Inguistic ability       Inguistic ability         ability       ability       Inguistic ability       Inguistic ability         ability       ability       Inguistic ability       Inguistic ability         ability       rance       Insures       Inguistic ability         The main advantage of elicitation procedures is that they give a relatively high degree of control over areareability which are being assessed.       Measures of concurrent validity must therefore be examined to determine whether the comparison measu valid measure of the linguistic ability in question.         Speaking as you would to an ordinary child, of a similar level of linguistic ability is sharply contrasted wrival for the hand of Blonde, Oxford's aughter.         Thus, while induction tasks appear to provide a simple and direct way of assessing a child's linguistic ability in the ability while hat the test purports to measure.         Third, for any checkist which claims a developmental sequence, the larger the developmental space betw uses the ch	0 extended by the second sec

Checking the answer and learning the context

## 4.2.4 Collocation Guessing

The renowned English linguist J.R. Firth said, "You shall know a word by the company it keeps," and the objective of the Collocation Guessing activity is precisely that: to let learners try their hand at identifying words from the company they keep. Knowing the collocations of a word is an important aspect of one's vocabulary knowledge.

Here's how it works. The target word is removed from a selection of its collocations, and they are shown one by one to the learner, who must guess the word. For example, given

plain, dark, white, bitter, milk, bar of,

learners must guess which word collocates with all of them. The answer is obvious to chocolate lovers!

The interface is inspired by the classic computer game Tetris. A single game comprises a word and a set of collocations. Collocation "bricks" with the target word omitted drop down from the top of the panel, one by one, hard on each other's heels. The player continually enters guesses that can match all the incomplete collocations, and the game ends when the correct word is given – or the collocations run out. Bonus points are awarded depending on how few collocations have been seen before the correct word is entered.

In the top illustration, a few collocates are given - *have the* <u>to</u>, *range, linguistic, lack of*, *develop the* <u>to</u>, *reading, intellectual*, and *levels of*. The correct word is *ability*, and if the player types it the collocation "bricks" will turn green, just as in the other collocation activities. Otherwise, they will briefly turn red, and the game will continue. When time runs out, all the collocations turn red, as shown in the last image.

Both green and red collocations can be clicked to view more contexts. Here, *linguistic ability* has been clicked to show ten examples of its use.

M Exercise parameters	
Target words 🕐	ability
Collocation type 👔	verb + noun (tell the truth) noun + noun (rain forest) adjective + noun (heavy rain) noun + of + noun (slice of bread)
Total number of collocations ()	20 •
MActivity parameters	
Display the questions in random order? 👔	● Yes <sup>©</sup> No
Speed 🕐	Medium -
Display hint(s)? 🐌	● Yes <sup>©</sup> No
Select hint type(s) 🕐	Number of Letters * First Letter Last Letter Word List *
ability [10]	
verb + noun	Select AI
have the ability to (109)     develop the ability to (19)     include the ability to (15)	lost the ability to (15)
noun + noun	Select AI
ability range (31) anguage ability (17) reading ability (13)	ability tests (13) ability groups (8)
adjective + noun	Deselect Al
atural ability (42)	academic ability (23)
Inguistic ability (29) Intellectual ability (26)	✓ remarkable ability (21)
noun + of + noun	Decelect All
✓ lack of ability (16)	development of the ability (7)
levels of ability (12)	▼ range of ability (7)
ability of firms (7)	
Re	wiew () Display () Save ()

Designing a Collocation Guessing game

#### Teacher's interface for Collocation Guessing

Teachers have a great deal of flexibility in designing a Collocation Guessing game.

You can choose any noun, verb or adjective as the target word. There is no limitation on the number of words: FLAX will make a separate exercise for each one.

For the type of collocations, you can select any of the syntactic patterns <u>verb + noun</u>, <u>noun</u>, <u>houn</u>, <u>adjective + noun</u>, and <u>noun + of + noun</u>, and you can select more than one of these in the usual way.

The dropping speed can also be adjusted from very slow to very fast.

Four types of hints are available to choose from, and you can select more than one of them. The *Number of Letters* hint will display the target word as dashes, where the number of dashes corresponds to the number of letters in the word. The *First Letter* and *Last Letter* hints will display the first or last letter of the target word. The *Word List* hint will display all the target words at the top of the panel, as in the example given earlier, where the target words are *answer, ability, capability, mature, reply,* and *ripe*.

On the facing page, the target word *ability* has been typed and all four syntactic patterns have been specified. This generates a total of 20 collocations, shown at the bottom and grouped according to their syntactic pattern. It is up to the teacher to decide which of these expressions are most appropriate for incorporating into a particular game.

How to play Summary report Water sports are very popular. The many fast-flowing rivers \_\_\_\_\_\_ the opportunity for rafting - particularly in the Bay of Plenty and around Queenstown. Trips can be from a few hours to several days, and a trained guide stays with the group to ensure safety and provide all the necessary equipment.

> Total score: 0 Question No. 2 out of 5 Check Answer Previous question Next question

A Completing Collocations exercise

		How to play	Summary report
On these rivers you can also go jet-boating . You will have to fasten your _ narrow rocky places or swooping along shallow streams.		belt before powering through	
	Tota	l score: 0 Quest	on No. 1 out of 5
	Check Answer	Previous question	n Next question

A noun + noun Completing Collocations exercise

For example you might help to cook dinner or do the washing up. You need to understand instructions in English and to have enough English to \_\_\_\_\_\_ to the people you are staying with.

There is fresh healthy food for all these people in New Zealand shops. All food has a label, to \_\_\_\_\_ the buyer what is in the food.

I feel very shy. My goal this year is to *improve* my \_\_\_\_\_ and listening. I will do this by talking to my neighbour every day.

Completing Collocations: speak vs. tell

## 4.2.5 Completing Collocations

Completing Collocations is like Word Guessing: certain words are omitted from a document and users fill in the gaps. However, whereas in Word Guessing the words are omitted either randomly or according to their syntactic type, Completing Collocations is more sophisticated; the missing words are chosen from collocations that have been identified in the document. FLAX chooses sentences, and highlights (in blue) selected collocations. If the paragraph contains preceding and following sentences, they are shown as well, to provide context.

The first two illustrations focus on the "Adventure sports" article. The top one includes collocations of all types. This particular question shows a <u>verb + noun</u> combination – the answer is *provide the opportunity* – but other questions will involve different collocation types.

Many teachers will prefer to focus on certain types of collocation. In the second illustration, only <u>noun + noun</u> collocations appear. This question shows *seat belt*, all other questions in this exercise will also involve <u>noun + noun</u> combinations.

It is instructive to focus on sets of words that share similar meanings but have different usage. Learners are frequently confused by common words – *make* and *do*, *see* and *look* – and find it hard to understand their differences by consulting dictionaries. For example, one dictionary defines *speak* and *tell* as

- Speak say something in order to convey information, an opinion, or a feeling
- *Tell* communicate information, facts, or news to someone in spoken or written words.

No wonder learners do not know which to use! Studying collocations is an effective way to help learners distinguish a word's various shades of meaning.

The bottom illustration shows three questions from a third exercise that addresses precisely this distinction between *speak* and *tell*. These sentences, all containing these two words or their derivatives, are chosen from all the articles in the *Best of Password* collection.

Another exercise might focus on finding the right verb for a noun. In the teacher's interface described next, collocations can be restricted to those that contain a certain word, and also by syntactic pattern, so one could design a <u>verb + noun</u> activity for a particular noun. As usual, the teacher can vet the collocations identified by the system to discard ones that are unsuitable.

M Exercise parameters					
Choose article 🖲	The parliamentary system in NZ Writing poetry in English The kwi bach Preserving Te Reo Maori Lifelines Coing to the doctor Holday plans The beekeeper				
Collocation type 👔	adjective + to + verb (necessary to control) adjective + noun (heavy rain) adjective + preposition + noun (good at sports) noun + noun (rain forest) noun + of + noun (chance of rain) preposition + noun (at home) verb + noun (make a difference) verb + preposition (go off)				
Contains words 🕦	speak, tell				
Mumber of collocations to choose from	m				
	5				
M Activity parameters					
Order of sentences 🗿	Natural order in article 💌				
Markeview: 4 collocations selected					
2 Click	on blue words to turn it into a gap.				
1. For example you might help to cook dinner or do the washing up. You need to understand instructions in English and to have enough English to <u>speak</u> to the people you are staying with.					
2. There is fresh healthy food for all these people in New Zealand shops. All food has a label, to <u>tell</u> the buyer what is in the food.					
3. For example you might help to cook dinner or do the washing up. You need to understand instructions in English and to have enough <u>English</u> to speak to the people you are staying with.					
4. I feel very shy. My goal this year is to <u>improve</u> my speaking and listening. I will do this by talking to my neighbour every day.					
5. The language is hard. They want to speak in their own language. It is difficult to save money.					
Review 3 Print 3 Display 3 Save 3					

Designing a Completing Collocations game

#### Teacher's interface for Completing Collocations

Completing Collocations exercises are created by filling out a form, just like the other language activities. You can select a particular article or set of articles, and a particular collocation type or types. You can specify a word or words that the collocations should contain. The *Number of collocations to choose from* field updates automatically when these parameters are entered.

In the illustration, 897 collocations were identified initially for all the documents in the *Best* of *Password* collection, but this immediately reduced to five when the target words "speak" and "tell" were entered. For such a specific exercise it might have been better to give the teacher more choice by basing it on a larger collection.

The *Review* button shows the collocations that the system has selected. In general, a single sentence may contain several collocations, each of which involves more than one word. FLAX generates all the examples but deselects, and grays out, subsequent ones involving the same sentence. You can reselect these individually if you wish; you can also click the blue words to turn them into gaps too.

In the illustration, the five *speak* and *tell* collocations are being reviewed, and one has been grayed out by the system because its sentence contains two collocations – *English to speak to and speak to the people*. (Usually there are far more collocations, many of which are grayed out.) All the sentences can be selected or deselected using the tick boxes.
#### Scrambled Sentences Exercises

In Scrambled Sentence exercises, the task is to put the words into the correct order. Just use the mouse to drag a word and drop it into the correct position. Only colored words can be moved. Trythis example:

M 4.1.2 Scrambled Sentences Kiwi Bach

#### A FLAX exercise in a Moodle course

_	Adding a new FLAX language learning to FLAX Activities
Name*	FLAX language learning
Description	East funity of East day of Decarranty of Co. 04.42 [73]
	Petro
Content	
Add to the course	Language exercises
	Canguage resources
Select a collection	The Best of Password
	C Earth Science
	Image activities demo collection     Make a new collection
	Marca new concentration
Select an activity	Hangman
	O Scrambled Sentences
	Word Guessing     Completing Collocations
	C Scrambled Paragraphs
	Punctuation and Capitalization     Selfa Sectionses
	<ul> <li>Split Sentences</li> </ul>
Exercise content	This Hangman exercise contains 20 words
	Edit content
Grade	
onute	
Grade	No grade 💌
Access control	
0	
Open exercise	1 + July + 2013 + 10 + 35 + Enable
dose exercise	1 v July v 2013 v 10 v 35 v Enable
	Save and return to course Save and display Cancel
	There are required fields in this form marked *.



## 4.3 Language activities in Moodle

With stand-alone FLAX, language activities are accessed through the collection itself. However, if you are using Moodle, the activities are incorporated directly into the course. They appear as a resource in the course, just like any other resource, but preceded by the FLAX logo **M**. The accompanying image (at the top) shows a fragment of a course that contains a FLAX activity called *Scrambled Sentences exercise*. Students click the link to play the game.

To add a language activity to a course, turn editing on and use the standard Moodle *Add an activity or resource* menu. Select *FLAX language learning* and click *Add*.

This takes you to the page shown opposite, with *Language exercise* selected, where you can select a collection and then an activity type that belongs to the collection. (The other option is *Language resource*, which is described in Chapter 6.) Different activities may be associated with different collections; for example, the *Image Guessing* activity is not associated with the *Best of Password* collection because the images there are not appropriate.

Having selected a collection and an activity type, you can click *Save and return to course*, at the very end of the form. This creates an exercise with default parameters and puts it into your course.

Probably, however, you will want to configure the activity first. In that case, click *Edit content*, which takes you to the *Edit exercise content* page described in the sections above that allows you to set the parameters for the exercise, exactly the same as in stand-alone FLAX.

# 5. More about collections

We have seen how FLAX can present language activities to students to enhance their language learning. It also provides different ways of looking at the information in the document collection itself. We saw some of these in Chapter 2, like searching and browsing. Now we take a more extensive look at what FLAX collections can provide.

This chapter uses a different and more extensive document collection: the Arts and Humanities collection of the British Academic Written English corpus, which contains 700 pieces of high-standard student writing in the area of arts and humanities. This includes the disciplines of Archaeology, Classics, Comparative American Studies, English, History, Linguistics, and Philosophy. Texts are categorized into 13 genre types: case studies, critiques, design specifications, empathetic writing, essays, exercises, explanations, literature surveys, methodology descriptions, narratives, problem questions, proposals and research reports. These classifications constitute "metadata" for the collection, which Greenstone, the digital library software that underpins FLAX, is capable of incorporating and using for browsing. You can see the collection at the FLAX website.<sup>9</sup>

It is also possible to create your own collection, based on your own documents. Teachers often want to use their own linguistic material in their courses. FLAX makes it easy to build small collections out of any documents – including images and audio – that you have available electronically. There are other ways of building large collections, but we won't describe those here. Greenstone is capable of handling vast collections of all sorts of information.

Teachers may want to create their own collections of documents for reasons other than language learning. After all, libraries have always been central to education. It is surprising, and perhaps a little disappointing, that digital libraries do not usually seem to play a central role in computer systems for educational support. FLAX allows you to organize readings and provide students with integrated access to them. If appropriate, they can also serve as a source of material for language learning.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> <u>http://flax.nzdl.org/greenstone3/flax?a=fp&sa=collAbout&c=BAWEAH&if=flax</u>

itish Academic W	ritten English (Arts and Humanities) your name:								
About Collection Search	Browse by Genre Browse by Discipline Collocations Wordlist LexicalBundles 🖨 My Cherry Basket								
🛿 Browse Documents b	y Genre								
critique	<ul> <li>Consider the component of generative syntax referred to as X-bar theory and discuss to what extent this theory meet the component of description and evaluations description.</li> </ul>								
design specification	examples.								
empathy writing	<ul> <li>Contrast TWO absolute dating methods and discuss with reference to archaeological case-studies how</li> </ul>								
essay	Seminar Presentation. George Moore, Esther Waters (1894)								
exercise	<ul> <li>no title [Pollard on settlement in the Neolithic]</li> </ul>								
explanation	<ul> <li>Evaluation of FCE Reading paper</li> </ul>								
literature survey	<ul> <li>Assignment 2 Critical review task</li> </ul>								
methodology recount	Critically evaluate the Representative Theory of Perception.     Iteracy practices in an Italian primary school: a case study.								
narrative recount	<ul> <li>Connectionist theories of second language learning and their pedagogical implications.</li> </ul>								
proposal	<ul> <li>Explain what is meant by phonological processes, and assess the advantages and disadvantages of this</li> </ul>								
research report	approach.  Towards an understanding of Second Language Acquisition								
	Book review - Finley								
	ARTICLE CRITIQUE								

#### Main page of the Arts and Humanities collection



A sample article in the collection

## 5.1 Exploring articles

Here is the main page of the Arts and Humanities collection. Users can seek documents, sentences, paragraphs and collocations containing particular words or phrases; they can browse documents by genre and discipline, collocations by word, academic words, and lexical bundles.

The *Browse by Genre* button has been clicked, which brings up (on the left) the 13 genre types mentioned above. The first type has been selected, which brings up (on the right) the titles of all articles classified as *critique*. Users can select a different discipline (the *Browse by Discipline* button), or search for articles containing a particular word (the *Search* button). These are standard Greenstone facilities.

Also shown is an article in the collection, entitled "Corpus Linguistics and Information and Persuasion," which can be accessed by selecting *Browse by Genre* and then *exercise*, or alternatively by selecting *Browse by Discipline* and then *Linguistics*.

Original	wordlist	wikify	adjective	noun	preposition	verb
academic words • 13%						
Applied Linguistics is the study of language in the real world - how it is really used by indiv about language use by studying examples of it, by collecting evidence and analysing it. O which provide multiple examples of words or phrases in their context in a particular corpus the relationship between linguistic choices and effects (Cook 2003), and enable one to see Both these areas of Applied Linguistics will be investigated, and should provide interesting	iduals and ne way of Critical D the way l results. Ta	through doing th iscourse language ask One	out society. Ils is by sear Analysis alle e is manipula	Linguist ching 'c ows the ited in o	ts find conclus concordance li linguist to stu rder to persua	sions ines', idy ade.
The field of corpus linguistics concerns words or phrases in their context. One can find the corpora - vast banks of language data that relate to how words are used in reality.	ways in w	which a w	ord or phra	se is use	d by searchin	ıg
The phrase 'set in' is not in itself negative, nor does it create negative connotations. However relate to undesirable things, for example, 'panic set it'. This claim was proven by searching from March 1995.	/er in its co the on-line	ontext, it concord	is clear that Jance lines f	it is use rom The	ed by writers t e Times' newsp	to paper
Out of the nine uses where 'set in' is used as a verb and particle, it was found that eight have with unpleasant connotations. For example: abstract nouns such as 'panic', 'recession', 'com used in terms of what has 'set in'. The nouns which have 'set in' in this particular corpus are The remaining example is, 'But from the 1830's a reaction set in'. This does not indicate whe enough information is shown in the concordance line - a possible problem in this field. Altho such as 'joy' with 'set in', but using the corpus it is clear that in reality it tends to be used wi	re negativ splacency"; "infection"; ther or no ough it wor th words v	e prosoc , tiredne and 'rot', of the phr uld not b with nega	ly - the phra ss', 'disappoi both consid ase has a no e grammatic ative implicat	se collo intment' lered his egative cally wro tions.	cates with wo and 'blues' are ghly undesirat prosody as no ong to place a	ords e ble. ot a word
By using a different type of corpus, the previous conclusion about the negative prosody of	of the phra	ise 'set in	i was confirm	med: Th	e fictional cor	DUS

## Wordlist view, with academic words highlighted

You may be interested in analyse, analyze, analytical, analytic, analyse analysis, analysis, analytically
🛿 Search Result: 668 sentences found
Group by patterns 🗐
<ul> <li>This endeavour may seem rather basic, but in the face of extremely varying definitions in the literature it should be deemed important to set a parameter that the other elements can be compared against, before engaging in an analysis of borderlines.</li> </ul>
• The basis for the following analysis is Berk's (1999) classification system as it is arguably the most straightforward. 🕈
<ul> <li>3.1 Analysis and discussion of results: *</li> </ul>
• So, a complex analysis of the scientificity of Ranke's philosophy, approach, and methodology of history will be offered. 🕈
<ul> <li>Ranke's method of analysis was 'scientific' too.</li> <li>Ranke's method of analysis was 'scientific' too. He used sophisticated linguistic analysis and corroboration, for example, to</li> <li>lauthenticate sources. Yet, Ranke was, of course, not the first to employ such a method. Linguistic analysis was famed by Lorenzo Valla's (1406-57) work on the Donation of Constantine, which he proved to be a forgery in 1439.</li> <li>Enguistic analysis was famed by Lorenzo Valla's (1406-57) work on the Donation of Constantine, which he proved to be a forgery in 1439.</li> <li>Enguistic analysis was famed by Lorenzo Valla's (1406-57) work on the Donation of Constantine, which he proved to be a forgery in 1439.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>In his time he was the closest to the concept of a 'scientific historian', but as new disciplines of social science developed to augment historical analysis, he was superseded by more 'scientific' figures.</li> </ul>

Result of clicking the word analysis

## 5.2 Wordlist view

The Wordlist view lets users analyze the range of vocabulary used in the article.

In the accompanying image, the academic words, taken from a standard 570-word list used in language teaching, are highlighted in blue. These include *individuals, conclusion, evidence, analysing, context, analysis*, and so on. Clicking a highlighted word leads to a page that shows all sentences in the collection containing that word. The second illustration shows the result of clicking the word *analysis*. As well as showing the sentences (668 of them), the system suggests, at the top that the user may also be interested in related words: *analyse, analyze, analytical, analytic, analysis, analyst, analytically*. Clicking the little green arrow shown after each sentence pops up the paragraph in which that sentence appears, shown in a gray box.

The proportion of academic words in this article (13%) is given beside the dropdown box above the text in the upper image (showing "academic words"). This box provides other options: the most frequent 1000 and 2000 words, also taken from standard wordlists; other words; and keywords. By changing this, users can easily ascertain that 59% of the words in this article are in the top 1000 words, which is increased by a further 5% by extending this to 2000 words.

The keyword view shows keywords in the article. For this article, it highlights the words *linguistics, concordances, phrases, corpus, persuade, prosody*, and so on. In keyword view, a slider appears beside the dropdown that the user can manipulate to reveal more words. Moving it to the right makes the system less selective, highlighting more words; conversely, moving it to the left reduces the number of highlighted words. At the very left end only one keyword ("CSA", an acronym for Child Support Agency) is given, while at the right end all content words are displayed.

Keywords are calculated by a heuristic method based on word frequency. For each content word, a score is calculated that reflects how important the word is to the document, based on the number of times it occurs in the document (which increases the score) and the number of times it occurs in the collection as a whole (which decreases it). For example, the word "CSA" receives the highest score for this article, because it occurs 11 times and does not occur in any other article.

Original wordlist wikfy adjective noun prepos	ition verb						
Applied Linguistics is the study of language in the real world - how it is really used by individuals and throughout society. Lingui conclusions about language use by studying examples of it, by collecting evidence and analysing it. One way of doing this is b searching 'concordance lines', which provide multiple examples of words or phrases in their context in a particular corpus. Critic Discourse Analysis allows the linguist to study the relationship between linguistic choices and effects (Cook 2003), and enable the way language is manipulated in order to persuade. Both these areas of Applied Linguistics will be investigated, and should p interesting results. Task One	ists find IV al one to see provide						
The field of corpus linguistics concerns words or phrases in their context. One can find the ways in which a word or phrase is u searching corpora - vast banks of language data that relate to how words are used in reality.	sed by						
The phrase 'set in' is not in itself negative, nor does it create negative connotations. However in its context, it is clear that it is u writers to relate to undesirat Collocation Notepod Implementation with the phrase of the number of the	sed by les from locates tion' and whether his field. ality it						
By using a different type of corpus, the previous conclusion about the negative prosocly of the phrase 'set in' was confirmed: T corpus of the language used in 'Sherlock Holmes Stories' provided two results of 'set in'. The phrase collocates with 'sharp frost' 'equinoctial gales', both undesirable types of weather.	he fictional 'and						
When considering the phrase 'resulting in', the words that follow tend to have negative company. Grammatically, it does not have to be used in such a way, so I searched 'The Times' newspaper March 1995 corpus to find its uses and prove if this claim is correct. The nine concordance lines shown in the corpus support this claim to an extent: for example, 'persistent headache'; 'drastic re-think'; '10 bookings'							

### Collocations, highlighted in the Collocation view

4	sexual connotations	14	🜲 political connotations	2
4	negative connotations	10	🗳 specific connotations	2
4	different connotations	7	interesting connotations	2
4	social connot at ions	5	special connotations	2
4	pejorative connotations	4	🗳 feminine connotations	2
				>>> more

#### Collocations for the word *connotation*

## 5.3 Collocation view

Once an article has been reached, the collocation view is accessed by clicking one of the adjective, noun, preposition and verb tabs shown in the sample article earlier (see *Exploring articles*, above). FLAX identifies lexical collocations with one of the following structures: <u>verb + noun</u>, <u>adjective + noun</u>, <u>noun + noun</u>, <u>noun + of + noun</u>, and <u>preposition + noun</u>. Each tab shows collocations starting with that word type; for example, the *adjective* panel hosts collocations starting with an *adjective*.

Collocations are highlighted in the text, to help students notice them and study their context. In the example shown, collocations related to the subject of the article, corpus linguistics – *linguistic choice, negative connotation, unpleasant connotation, abstract nouns, negative prosody, neutral company, persuasive language, interpersonal function, attributive function, linguistic interaction* – stand out from the surrounding text. The collocation *negative connotations* has been clicked to bring up a superimposed popup with two small icons. The underlined words here, *negative* and *connotations*, are hyperlinked to entries that involve those words in an external collocation database, built from all the written text in the British National Corpus.

Users can easily study further collocations related to these two words. For example, clicking *connotation* generates a further popup, shown below, that lists *sexual connotations, different connotations, social connotations, pejorative connotations*, etc., along with their frequency in that corpus. Likewise, clicking *negative* would show collocations such as *negative attitudes, negative side, negative aspects*.

The panel shown helps users learn about the word *connotation*. They can see samples of these collocations in context by clicking them here, which shows relevant extracts from the British National Corpus – for example, clicking *sexual connotations* brings up ten sentences that use this phrase.

Returning to the top image, clicking the first icon in the popup (the "web" icon) generates a page containing sample texts retrieved by a live Web search. The system connects to a search engine, uses the collocation as a phrase query, retrieves sample texts, parses them, and displays extracts that contain the collocation. However, the text, being extracted from individual Web pages, is often unclean, incomplete and repetitive. The function of the second icon in the popup (the "cherries" icon) is explained in Section 5.5.

M Search Collocations in Collection
Search for collocations + that contain the word notion search
M Search Result: 299 collocation(s) matched the query.
Noun + of (149) Verb (94) Adjective (52) Noun (2) Preposition (2)
• notion of the male provider
This particular maenad is now androgynous, or at least, she can fulfil all of the social functions traditionally upheld by the male. She is farmer of the earth, and as the shepherds soon find, rapturous defender of her sisters; she renders the notion of the male provider obsolete.
• notion of performance
Pentheus' elaborate transformation adds another lattice to his identity on stage: he is now an actor playing a man playing a woman. Pentheus submits fully to the notion of performance : "the god charms him with the possibility of being a spectator." (Foley 208) But Pentheus instead "becomes a spectacle and participant, where the god alone remains a spectator."
• notion of basic reading
From the 1980s onward, a gradual change in position has taken place, shifting from the traditional notion of basic reading and writing to context-specific communication and critical thinking skills. More specifically, literacy is increasingly defined as the set of skills, knowledge and social practices that young people and adults use to perceive the world around them and to achieve personal and social goals.
• notion of syllable
The phonic approach to alphabet (Campbell, 1995) involves the learning of the names of the letters and their sounds, which are both taught in isolation and as a combination of vowel and consonant. Thus, the notion of syllable is also introduced and children gradually learn to recognize words as strings of phonemes put one after the other. This practice is highly structured and children learn through repetition of single words, whose syllables are beaten by claps of hands.

Exploring collocations associated with the word notion

## 5.4 Searching and browsing collocations

Users can investigate collocations by searching or browsing for partners of a particular word. As well as the standard search function of locating articles, sentences, or paragraphs that contain a particular word or words, the collection's "Search" button allows users to search collocations in the collection. The accompanying image shows the result for the word notion, which returns nearly 300 collocations. The first four can be seen here, along with their contexts. They are grouped under tabs that reflect the syntactic roles of the associated word or words, Verb, Adjective, Noun, Preposition, and Noun + of (shown). The dominant pattern for our chosen word is <u>notion + of</u> (half the total of 300), as in notion of performance, notion of syllable, notion of time. The next most dominant is <u>verb + notion</u> (nearly a third of the total): solidifies the notion of, renders the notion of, advocate the notion of, and so on.

Collocations can be browsed as well as searched, using the Collocations button on the collection's home page and article pages (shown beside *Exploring articles*, above). Then, an alphabetic selector leads to the word in question. Clicking the letter *n*, followed by the word *notion*, obtains the collocations shown opposite.

Original	wordlist	wikify	adjective	noun	preposition	verb
Applied Linguistics is the study of language in the real world - how it is really used conclusions about language use by studying examples of it, by collecting eviden searching 'concordance lines', which provide multiple examples of words or phras Discourse Analysis allows the linguist to study the relationship between linguistic the way language is manipulated in order to persuade. Both these areas of Applie interesting results. Task One	d by indivi ice and an ices in their <mark>choices</mark> a icd Linguist	iduals an ialysing i context nd effect ics will b	d throughou t. One way ( in a particu ts (Cook 20 e investigat	it societ of doing l <mark>ar corp</mark> i 03), and ed, and	y. Linguists fi i this is by us. Critical I enable one t should provid	nd :o see de
The field of corpus linguistics concerns words or phrases in their context. One ca searching corpora - vast banks of language data that relate to how words are us	in find the ed in reali	waysin ty.	which a wor	d or phi	rase is used b	v
The phrase 'set in' is not in itself negative, nor does it create negative connotation writers to relate to undesirable things, for example, 'panic set it'. This claim was pri 'The Times' newspaper from March 1995.	ns. Howev oven by s	er in its earching	context, it is 3 the on-line	clear th concord	at it is used b dance lines fro	y om
Out of the nine uses where 'set in' is used Add collocation to My Cherry Basket 🛛 with words with unpleasant connotations 'disappointment' and 'blues' are used in te 'rot', both considered highly undesirable, or not the phrase has a negative prosod Although it would not be grammatically v	eight hav anic', 'rece have 'set 830's a re he conco et in', but	re negati ession', 'c t in' in thi eaction s irdance l using th	ive prosody complacency s particular o let in'. This d ine - a possi le corpus it i	- the ph corpus a loes not ble prob s clear t	rase collocat ess', tre 'infection' indicate whe olem in this fie hat in reality i	es and ther ld. it
With words with unpleasant connotations         'disappointment' and 'blues' are used in te         'rot', both considered highly undesirable,         or not the phrase has a negative prosod         Although it would not be grammatically v         Image: No category         Image: No category         Vectors         Image: No category         Image	anic, rece have 'sel 830's a re he conco et in', but	ession', 'c t in' in thi eaction s indance l using th	complacency s particular o let in'. This d ine - a possi le corpus it i	r, tiredn corpus a loes not ble prob s clear ti	ess', are 'infection' indicate whe olem in this fie hat in reality i	and ther ld. It

### Collocation "cherry picking" interface

My Cherry Basket	
Show Samples Create a New Category	Print friendly
l⊜Theory × ≤	
A theory of meaning ×	
theory of perception ×	
▲ <u>reliability</u> of the <u>theory</u> ×	<b></b>
A circular theory ×	
A scientific theory ×	<b></b>
conveyed by the theory ×	
<u>a</u> <u>contradict</u> the <u>theory</u> of      ×	<b>S</b>
reinforce this theory ×	
l⇒Role × ≼	
nature of its role ×	
awareness of the role ×	
▲ significant role ×	<b></b>
▲ key role ×	
▲ formative role ×	<b></b>
▲ <u>fulfil</u> the <u>role</u> of ×	<b></b>
A role model ×	
♣ subsidiary role ×	<b></b>
principle role ×	

### One student's personalized cherry basket

## 5.5 Cherry picking

Collocation knowledge is difficult to acquire simply because there is so much of it. Native speakers carry hundreds of thousands of lexical chunks in their heads, ready to draw upon in order to produce fluent, accurate and meaningful language. This presents language learners with a daunting challenge.

To help them, learners are often encouraged to collect their favorite collocations for possible use in later writing. FLAX provides a facility for "picking" favorite collocations and saving them in a kind of notebook. We use the metaphor of cherries because, like collocations, they are tasty fruit that come in small groups. Cherry picking is initiated by clicking the "cherries" icon that follows collocations shown in earlier illustrations. Students can pick collocations from an article, or from *search results* or *browsing results* pages.



This icon beside a collocation adds it to the user's cherry basket.

In the illustration here, the collocation *negative connotation* has been chosen. In the upper image it is being added to the student's personal cherry basket. If desired, the basket can be organized into categories, and new categories can be defined when picking a collocation. Or, if the user prefers, the basket can be left unorganized.

The basket's contents are shown when the user clicks *My Cherry Basket*, on the right of the control bar near the top of the screen. The bottom image shows a student's cherry basket, displaying collocations that have been picked and placed in two categories: *theory* and *role*. The usual options are provided for organizing the basket: a cherry can be dragged into the "folder" icon beside another category, collocations can be deleted (with the "x" symbol), and category names can be altered (with the edit icon). The web icon on to the right of each collocation retrieves further examples from the web. A "print friendly" version of the basket can be generated, which is also suitable for sharing by email.

The cherry basket, and indeed FLAX's entire collocation facility, is particularly useful when learning English in a certain domain, like geography, management, or in a genre like academic writing. The teacher creates a collection of documents in the domain, perhaps from Wikipedia or some other public source. Students study them, investigate the collocations they contain, and choose ones they like for use in future writing exercises. Instead of simply mastering words – pronunciation, forms, and meanings – students learn the contexts in which they are used, which helps them combine words into apt phrases, sentences and texts.

Even for general writing, collocations help students express themselves more aptly and precisely. For example, learners, especially lower level ones, tend to overuse common words like *very* because of their limited stock of adverb modifiers. FLAX enables them to find modifiers that are more suitable for use with particular adjectives or verbs, such as *completely, physically, mentally, emotionally* with the word *exhausted* and *heavily, strongly, deeply, easily, unduly* with the phrase *influenced by*.

X Search Words in Collection
Search for sentences - that contain the word suggest search
You may be interested in suggestion
M Search Result: 1787 sentences found
Group by patterns 🔲
<ul> <li>Descartes is providing us with justifications for doubt, reasons to doubt, he is not suggesting disbelief, or even that we may truly doubt these things, but that we appreciate that there are good reasons to doubt our prejudices.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>That the vibration of the larynx, or lack of it, suggested by the terminology voiced and voiceless is the distinguishing characteristic of the pairs of obstruents, is the basis of the inadequacy.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>As it may be hard to tell sometimes whether a premodifying word is an epithet or classifier, Lock (1996:50) suggests a test based on a specific characteristic of the classifier.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Another argument that suggests that Cod is within time is the argument from simultaneity.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>The Augustinian question of Why create at time x and not at any other time? is avoided if we assert that both the universe and God are eternal, as Taylor (1974) suggests.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>However, it should be noted that in H\u00e5cha's response to Heydrich, he only pledged his and his government's sincere commitment to collaboration, if Heydrich was supportive of important initiatives suggested by the government.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Altchinson (2003) suggests that words are related to each other in the form of 'a multi-dimensional cobweb in which every item is attached to scores of others' (2003:84).</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Early research concentrated on meaning networks and 'finding out the strength of a link between one particular word and another' (2003:84), suggesting that links between words were formed by 'habits'.</li> </ul>

Athcinson (2003) noted that 'the consistency of the results suggested to psychologists that they might therefore be able to draw up a
reasonably reliable 'map' of the average person's 'word-web' (2003:85).

#### Result of searching for sentences containing the word suggest

academic Words		•	sort by frequ	uency 🔻										
theory	4	**	1536	evidence	4	*	1229	create	4	88	1188	role		813
individual	4	**	1038	structure	4	**	1031	period	4	283	1029	process	<u> </u>	813
approach	4	***	819	context		**	735	economic	4	200	728	feature	<u> </u>	88
site	4	200	706	focus	4	***	699	concept	4	213	699	image	<b>.</b>	89
factor	4		672	conclusion	4	200	668	method	4	20	645	function	<b>4</b>	89
similar	4	×	616	despite	4	**	606	aspect	4	20	602	Issue	<u> </u>	813
contrast	4	ж	586	revolution	4	×	586	identity	4	20	584	community	<u> </u>	813
cultural	4	**	573	source	4	**	561	establish	4	26	559	involve	<u> </u>	813
interpretation	4	200	526	status	4	***	522	element	4	20	513	require	<b>4</b>	89
link	4	26	498	notion	4	-	498	significant	4	88	495	style	<b>4</b>	89
research	4	28	466	authority	4	22	461	principle	4	88	458	define	<u> </u>	89
section	4	23	434	highlight	4	23	434	demonstrate	4	88	431	achieve	<u> </u>	88
theme	4	23	418	policy	4	23	409	conflict	4	88	404	maintain	4	88
illustrate	4	88	395	challenge	4	**	384	imply	4	88	371	negative	4	88

Academic words in the Arts and Humanities collection

## 5.6 Exploring words

Searching documents for particular words and phrases is one of the standard functions of digital libraries. However, ordinary library users seek information about the content of articles, whereas language learners want to know about how words are used. The same search mechanism can be applied, but the results need to be displayed in different ways.

FLAX lets users seek documents, paragraphs and sentences containing a particular word, along with its variants. Here we focus on sentence and paragraph searching. The upper image shows the first 9 of the 1800 sentences that contain the word *suggest*; sentences containing the inflected forms *suggesting*, *suggested* and *suggests* are also included. A lemma list containing about 15,000 entries is consulted to recognize inflected forms of a query word. Clicking the "arrow" icon at the end of a sentence pops up the paragraph that contains the sentence, showing its context.

Other terms derived from the query word, in this case the word *suggestion*, are given at the very top of the panel as another possible search. Although *suggest* has only one derived term, there are often several; for example, the query word *important* yields the derivatives *importance*, *importantly*, *unimportant*, and *unimportance*, which are sorted into descending order of frequency in the collection.

Search queries can contain more than one word, in which case sentences are returned that contain all the query terms. For phrase searching, a query can be enclosed by quotation marks; for example, *"language learning theory"* returns sentences containing this phrase, while *language learning theory* returns sentences containing these three words.

Users can explore academic words in the collection by clicking the *Wordlist* button on the collection's home page and article pages (shown beside *Exploring articles*, above). This yields the screen shown at the bottom. The words can be sorted alphabetically or by frequency, as here; in either case, frequency in the collection is shown alongside the word.

The "cherries" icons link to the collocations associated with the word, yielding the display described earlier under *Searching and browsing collocations*. The "British flag" icon invokes a search of the British National Corpus, which allows users to examine how the word is used in different contexts. Note that in each of these cases all inflected forms of the word are also included in the search.

🛿 Search Result: 532 patterns found
Group by pattern 🗵
At the beginning (166) In the middle (366)
Altchinson suggests that (123)
This suggests that (52)
They suggest that (38)
Atchinson suggests (25)
It has been suggested that (17)
As Halliday suggests (13)
It is suggested that (13)
This could suggest that (13)
The objections suggest that (12)
The objections suggest that ER is mistaken as: it suggests that reality is shaped by our conceptual framework, the thesis of relativismis true in some non-relativistic sense, the ER collapses into subjectivism and that it cannot evade that there is, after all, an absolute notion of truth.
His theory suggested that skilled readers use context to anticipate the words in a text therefore do not need to decode every word.
The results suggested that women were 40% more likely to avoid using the vernacular form, the glottal stop than the men.

### Sentences containing suggest at the beginning, grouped by pattern

X Search Result: 532 patterns found
Group by pattern 🗷
At the beginning (166) In the middle (366)
suggest that older adults (104)
<ul> <li> suggesting that (94)</li> </ul>
<ul> <li> suggest an annual activity (80)</li> </ul>
<ul> <li> suggest the origin of (71)</li> </ul>
<ul> <li> suggest that we (67)</li> </ul>
<ul> <li> suggest that Jones (38)</li> </ul>
Euripides suggests that (35)
suggested that the number of (26)
<ul> <li> suggesting relatively good hygiene (26)</li> </ul>
<ul> <li> suggested that there (20)</li> </ul>
suggesting they have (17)
<ul> <li> suggested that 'an (11)</li> </ul>
suggests a ritual complex (11)
Colin Renfrew suggested (10)
<ul> <li> as Alba suggests (9)</li> </ul>
<ul> <li> it has been suggested that (9)</li> </ul>

## Sentences containing suggest in the middle, grouped by pattern

## 5.7 Exploring usage patterns of words

On the panel showing the result of searching for sentences containing the word *suggest*, just described, shows, near the top, a *Group by pattern* option, which is turned off by default. This allows users to study word usage by showing salient syntactic patterns that involve it.

Patterns are grouped by whether the word in question occurs near the beginning of sentences or in the middle, because these provide different views of the word's usage. The upper illustration shows (in the header bar) that 532 patterns are found for the word *suggest*. They are separated into two tabs, *At the beginning* (166 patterns) and *In the middle* (lower illustration; 366 patterns).

The most common usage of the word *suggest* is to begin sentences of the form *Aitchinson suggests that*, which occurs – with different subjects – in many sentences (123). Clicking the pattern brings these up; they include *Thomas suggests that*, *Archeologists suggested that*, and *Lenin also suggested that*. These all exhibit the pattern: <u>Noun + suggest + that-clause</u>. The next most common sentence-initial patterns, *This suggests that*, *They suggest that*, *Aitchinson suggests*, *It has been suggested that*, *It is suggested that* and so on, demonstrate that the most dominant usage of this word near the beginning of sentences is <u>subject + suggest + that-clause</u>. Note that there are two patterns that open with *Aitchinson suggests*; the second is different because omits the word *that* from the *that*-clause.

The lower illustration shows how *suggest* is used in the middle of sentences. The top two patterns are <u>suggest + that</u>-clause, while the third is <u>suggest + noun phrase</u>. The second example is distinguished as a different pattern because, being preceded by a comma, it begins a clause, as in

Swinburne reinforced this idea, suggesting that people expect too much ....

The patterns that follow (from 71 to 11 occurrences) show the same trend. The *that*-clause is followed by patterns such as noun phrases (*older adults, the number of*), pronouns (*we, it, he*) and proper nouns (*Jones*). Noun phrase patterns include <u>article + adjective + noun</u> (*suggests a test, suggest an annual activity*) and <u>article + adjective + noun + of</u> (*the origin of, the means of, particular methods of*).

Collection name 🕐

New Zealand

#### Collection description 🧿

This is a collection of articles form Wikipedia about New Zealand.

If you take documents from the Web, it is important to ensure that you have permission to do so. Fortunately, Wikipedia articles are issued under the Creative Commons license, which allows anyone to reuse them provided their source is acknowledged.

Starting a new collection

Save Cancel

_	Add Document
	Document title (2) About New Zealand
Ľ	Difficulty lower (and a Decision
Ľ	Difficulty level (type or choose) () Beginner
1	Document content 🕐
ľ	Text Auxiliary Text Images Audio Youtube Video Clossary
	4 paragraphs English 💌
	New Zealand (/nju:'zi:land/; Māori: Actearoa [ao'tcaroa]) is an island country in the southwestern Pacific
	Ocean. The country geographically comprises two main landmasses – that of the North and South Islands –
	across the Tasman Sea and roughly 1,000 kilometres (600 mi) south of the Pacific island nations of New
	Caledonia, Fiji, and Tonga. Because of its remoteness, it was one of the last lands to be settled by humans.
	Polynesians settled New Zealand in 1250–1300 CE and developed a distinctive Maori culture, and Europeans
	first made contact in 1642 CE. The introduction of potatoes and muskets triggered upheaval among Maori
	early during the 19th century, which led to the inter-tribal Musket Wars. In 1840 the British and Maori signed a treaty making New Zealand a colony of the British Empire. Immigrant numbers increased sharply and conflicts
	escalated into the New Zealand Wars, which resulted in much Maori land being confiscated in the mid North
	Island. Economic depressions were followed by periods of political reform, with women gaining the vote during the 1800s, and a welfare state being established from the 1930s. After World War II. New Zealand joined
	Australia and the United States in the ANZUS security treaty, although the United States later suspended the
l	
	Save Cancel

Adding a new document

# 6. Creating your own collection

The process of creating a collection is exactly the same whether you are Moodling or not. In stand-alone FLAX you will have to log in, go to *List collections* in the drop-down list under your name, and click *Add a new collection*. In Moodle-FLAX you turn editing on, click *Add an activity or resource*, select *FLAX language learning*, click the *Language resource* button and then the *Make a new collection* link. In either case you get the form shown opposite, into which you enter a name for the collection, and a description to go on its home page. Then click *Save* to move to the next stage, which is to add documents.

Each document is added using the form shown in the second image. First choose a title. Then choose a difficulty level, either from the list provided (*Beginner, Intermediate* and *Advanced*), or by typing in your own level name. Then paste the document text into the box. You can copy text from a Web page, from a Word document, from almost anywhere. Of course, copyright is your own responsibility; before adding any document, please ensure that you have permission to do so. Separate paragraphs with blank lines; the form states (on the right) how many paragraphs there are.

As well as text, you can also enter other items using the blue buttons shown.

*Auxiliary text* might contain information about the document's source, or perhaps key vocabulary items that it introduces. This text is shown in a box at the bottom of the document, but is not included in any language activities that are made from it. (<u>Here</u> is an example, the "Adventure sports" article. Scroll down to see the auxiliary text.)

*Images* may be associated with the document. After clicking this button you can upload an image file, which will be displayed at the beginning whenever the document is shown. Several image files can be uploaded, in which case they will be equally spaced throughout the document. (The documents you include in FLAX collections are intended to be simple; controlled image placement is not possible.) You can also make collections where each "document" is an image accompanied by a caption or some explanatory text. This would be suitable for the Image Guessing activity in Section 4.8.

*Audio files* are specified in exactly the same way. This facility is intended to allow students to listen to documents as well as read them. In the document shown, which is about New Zealand, the national anthem could be given as an audio file. You can associate more than one audio file with a document; the user plays them by selecting from a menu.

YouTube Videos are specified by giving their URL.

Glossary items can be specified. Right now FLAX doesn't use them, but it will in the future.

After adding a document, click the *Save* button. You will get a form that lists the documents in the collection so far, with a button for adding the next one. Continue in the same manner until the collection is complete. At any time you can return to an earlier document and edit it (click the *edit* icon beside the document name) or delete it (the "x" symbol).

1. ≤ ×	About New Zealand (Difficulty: Beginner)
2. ≤ ×	Aotearoa (Difficulty: Beginner)
3. 4 ×	Cook Straft (Difficulty: Beginner)
4. s ×	Great Barrier Island (Difficulty: Beginner)
5. K ×	North Island (Difficulty: Beginner)
6. ≰ ×	South Island (Difficulty: Beginner)
7. ≤ ×	Stewart Island (Difficulty:Beginner)
	Add a new document
Optional con Edit na	nfiguration me and description
Choose	activities
Configu	une collocations Build Cancel

Summary of the documents added so far

	💥 Adding a new FLAX language learning to FLAX Activities
7	
Name*	FLAX language learning
Description	Fontfamily - Fontsize - Paragraph - 🕜 😋 🏤 🎎 💷
	B I U 444 x, x' ■ = = =
	Ξ Ξ Ξ Ξ Ξ Ξ Ξ Ξ Ξ Ω Ω 3 ···· ♥··
	Path p //
Contont	
content	
Add to the course	C Language exercises
	S Language resources
Select a collection	The Best of Password
	C Earth Science
	New Zealand & X
	Make a new collection
Select what to add	The whole collection
Select What to aud	C A single article
	About New Zealand
	Cook Strait
	Creat Barrier Island
	South Island
	Stewart Island

A new collection called New Zealand, which I can now edit if I want

## 6.1 Building and installing the collection

The list of documents you add to the collection is shown in the top panel opposite (you can see the *edit* and *delete* icons beside the document names). When you have finished adding documents, click the *Build* button. After a short delay, which depends on the number and size of documents, the collection will finish building and be added to your FLAX system.

If you are working in Moodle, the new collection appears in your list of collections, along with the usual Moodle *edit* and *delete* icons (these only appear beside collections that you yourself have built). It will be visible to any other teachers who use the same Moodle installation. You can go back and add new documents to your collection, or alter its configuration as described in Section 6.2.

If you are using stand-alone FLAX, your collections are listed under two headings:

- My finished collections
- My collections under construction.

Your new collection will appear as under construction. Select it with the mouse and drag it into *My finished collections* to make it available to all users of the FLAX server. If you want to change the collection, drag it back to the "under construction" area, where four buttons appear alongside it: *edit, delete, copy,* and *preview.* You can only do this for collections that you have created, not for ones belonging to other people – and, of course, you can't edit the standard collections. With these buttons you can *copy* any collection, which produces a copy under "My collections under construction," or *delete* and *edit* collections – typically by adding or deleting documents, or changing the collection's name. You can also *preview* collections to see what they look like.

Choose activities

✓Hangman <u>show info</u>

☑Missing Accents <u>show info</u>

Word Conjugation show info

Word Agreement show info

Scrambled Sentences show info

Word Guessing show info

Related Words show info

☑Image Guessing <u>show info</u>

Scrambled Paragraphs show info

Punctuation and Capitalization show info

Split Sentences show info

Save Cancel

#### Selecting which activity types to include

-Collocations an	d collocation activities	
☑ Extract col	locations from documents	
Collocation Types	Verb       Noun       Autecuve       Preposition         All/None       Image: Construct of the second se	
Collocation     Collocation     Collocation     Completing	Dominoes <u>show info</u> Matching <u>show info</u> Collocations <u>show info</u>	
		Save Cancel

#### Selecting which collocation types to include

## 6.2 Optional collection configuration

If you wish, you can perform some optional configuration for your collection:

- Edit name and description,
- Choose activities, and
- Configure collocations.

The first is straightforward. The second lets you specify which "activity types" your new collection will allow. Some activities don't make sense for certain collections; for example, a collection of images supports the image guessing activity, but not activities that involve textual documents – and *vice versa*. The default is to include all that seem relevant to the collection, and it's simplest to leave it and assume that people using the collection will not try to define inappropriate activities.

The third option shows a list of collocation types to include. FLAX analyzes each document and finds the collocations that appear in it. It parses each sentence to determine the syntactic part of speech of its words, groups collocations by type and first word, and associates them with the document. They can be highlighted when users read the document, and also form the basis of collocation games. Section 4.2 contains more information about collocations.

At this stage in collection-building, you can determine what kind of collocations FLAX seeks. Select one of the parts of speech on the buttons in the second image opposite – noun, verb, adjective, adverb, preposition – to see the collocation patterns that are associated with it. You can select or deselect these individually. If you're not interested in collocations at all, collection building will be faster if you deselect *Extract collocations from document* (at the top).



#### The Web phrases collection



#### The Learning Collocations collection

# 7. Language learning resources

FLAX includes two large language learning resources: Web Phrases and Learning Collocations.

This section examines these resources and how they can be utilized in language learning. They contain authentic written text drawn from various sources and representing contemporary English use. The first, Web Phrases, is built from web text, which has been preprocessed and organized into a searchable database, along with a user interface and flexible searching and browsing facilities to cater for different user needs. The second, Learning Collocations, is built from the British National Corpus, the British Academic Written English and Wikipedia, again preprocessed and organized as a searchable database with a similarly flexible user interface, which in both cases the text.

The next two sections describe the Web Phrases and Learning Collocations resources. Following that, we examine how these resources can be used to support general and academic writing, using a series of scenarios that take place within a genuine teaching and learning context.

Type in your use * or -	word(s) be response to find words in b	sible (up to 4 words) between, for example is ** responsible"
search fo	) phrases following	•
return up	to 100 - phrase	es
group by	word type off 🔻	]
show phrases		
🛛 Result		
Fragment	Frequency	be responsible for (5,100,000)     be responsible or (200,000)
be	2,300,000,000	be responsible to (170,000)
be responsible	6,000,000	
		be responsible if (34,000)
		be responsible of (8,000)     (7,500)
		be responsible with (7,500)
		be responsible only (5.700)

## Searching for be responsible in Web Phrases

be responsible for (5,100,000)
be responsible for the (1,000,000)
🗄 be responsible for any (450,000)
🖶 be responsible for all (200,000)
🐵 be responsible for lost (85,000)
be responsible for providing (82,000)
be responsible for ensuring (69,000)
🖶 be responsible for their (64,000)
🖶 be responsible for a (63,000)
be responsible for items (56,000)
be responsible for developing (56,000)
be responsible for developing and (18,000)
be responsible for developing the (5,400)
be responsible for developing a (5,100)
be responsible for developing new (2,800)
be responsible for developing an (1,200)
be responsible for developing business (1,000)
<ul> <li>be responsible for developing relationships (380)</li> </ul>
be responsible for developing policies (350)
be responsible for developing procedures (280)
be responsible for developing their (280)
be responsible for developing sales (270)

Further exploration of be responsible

be held responsible (1,700,000)
be solely responsible (95,000)
+ be a responsible (50,000)
be more responsible (26,000)
be directly responsible (24,000)
be fully responsible (23,000)
be financially responsible (22,000)
e primarily responsible (21,000)
be made responsible (16,000)
be personally responsible (12,000)
be the responsible (11,000)
be partly responsible (10,000)
be legally responsible (9,200)
be fiscally responsible (8,600)
be socially responsible (7,500)
be partially responsible (6,200)
be ultimately responsible (6,000)
be jointly responsible (5,700)
be hold responsible (5,200)
be largely responsible (4,800)
Be entirely responsible (4,400)
A ho completely responsible (3.900)

### Results of the search be \* responsible

## 7.1 Web Phrases

The Web Phrases resource was developed from a database containing a vast set of word sequences in the English language, along with their frequencies. The data was collected from publicly accessible Web pages that together comprised approximately one trillion word tokens. The word sequences range from single words to units of five consecutive words. FLAX's Web Phrases resource contains 50,000 unique words, 14 million two-word sequences, 420 million three-word sequences, 500 million four-word sequences, and 380 million five-word sequences. It allows free exploration of word combinations, unconstrained by grammatical class. With it, users can study particular words and phrases to check whether and to what extent what they are writing represents common usage.

Users can find what words most commonly follow a particular word or phrase. The interface contains three parts, shown in the top illustration. Here, the user has typed the phrase *be responsible* into the upper part of the interface. A small statistical table shows the frequency with which this phrase, and any constituent prefix phrases (here, the word *be*), appears in the Web Phrases collection. Beside it is an expandable list (only the first ten lines are shown) that displays associated phrases in reverse frequency order, along with their frequency counts.

The most frequent words following *be responsible* are *for*, *or*, *to*, *and*, etc. (in that order). When the plus sign beside *be responsible for* is clicked, the tree expands as shown in the lower left-hand image, displaying the extensions of these phases, again in frequency order; here, the expanded phrase *be responsible for developing* has also been clicked. In addition the table and graph update accordingly (not shown in the illustration).

A phrase can be expanded up to five words, or until no further extensions are found. Once the phrase length reaches five words, the database contains no further extensions – but if you click on a five word phrase, the system will retrieve from the Web examples of text that use it.

The illustration shows searching in the forward direction, but users can also search backwards by specifying the *phrases preceding* option – giving, in this case, phrases like *will be responsible, shall be responsible, may be responsible.* 

Furthermore, an asterisk (\*) can be used to stand for any word. This allows users to find words that occur between other words of a phrase. The lower right-hand illustration shows the adverbs that intervene between *be* and *responsible* – *solely*, *directly*, *fully*, etc.. Further asterisks can be added, for example, *be* \*\* *responsible*, *be* \*\*\* *responsible*, and *be* \* *responsible* \* *the*.

Finally, common words like *the, a, of*, and *to* are dominant constituents of phrases, and often make it hard for users to discern useful language patterns. The *group by word type* option addresses this problem by letting users look up the words following or preceding a phrase by their grammatical part of speech – preposition, verb, noun, adjective, etc..

🔰 used as a noun					
research + noun	<ul> <li>research project</li> <li>research programme</li> <li>market research</li> <li>research findings</li> <li>research team</li> </ul>	303 4 237 4 209 4 141 4 130 4	research o research s research s research i research r	contract vork students nterests nethods	103 102 95 82 80
adjective + research	social research     social research     social science resea     Social research     social research     social research     quantitative social re	159 <b>4</b> rch 10ds 25earch	medical re 159 20 11 4 3	search ch search ch search	90 70 60 59 56 >>> more
noun + of + research	<ul> <li>social mobility resea</li> <li>social work research</li> <li>social survey resear</li> <li>social survey resear</li> <li>social science resea</li> <li>empirical social rese</li> <li>contemporary socia</li> <li>social scientific rese</li> <li>social services resea</li> </ul>	rch ch rch students arch Iresearch arch	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	esearch rch arch esearch arch	34 26 25 23 22 >>> more
research + preposition + noun	A social science resea     A basic social research     A social policy research     A in-depth social scient	rch computing proje 1 h unit ice research	ects 1 1 1	earch n research between research	9 9 9

¥ re	elated wor	ds							
	research	hypothesis	scientific	empirical	method	prediction	academic	researcher	
Г	hourglass	quantitative	iournal	knowledge	criticism	evidence	varv	outcome	-
	🚑 scientific	method	3	1	÷	scientific infor	mation	1	
	🚑 embodie	d in the scienti	fic method 1		÷	scientific meth	nods	1	
	👶 variety o	f scientific matt	ters 1		4	scientific testi	ing	1	
	👶 applicatio	on of the scient	tific method		÷	classical scien	tific methods	1	
24	🚑 rounds o	of scientific test	ting 1		÷	scientific rese	arch	1	
11	🚑 alternativ	ve to purely sci	entific methods l		÷	use the scient	tific method	1	
Res	purely so	científic	1		÷	provides scier	ntific information	1 1	tablish novel facts, solve
prol	in the sc	ientific method	1		÷	funding for sc	ientific research	1	
	🚑 scientific	matters	1						
exte.									
X d	lefinitions								
Reso facts	e <mark>arch</mark> can be s, solve new o	e defined as ti or existing pr	he search for oblems, prove	cnowledge, o new ideas, o	or as any sy or develop	ystematic inv new theories	estigation, wit , usually using	h an open r a scientific	mind, to establish novel method. [Wikipedia]
exte	nded definiti	ons from wikt	ionary						
<u>Ж</u> г	elated top	oics in Wik	ipedia						
			-						
	Social sci	iences				Res	earch and deve	elopment	
	Science					Peer	review		
	Academic	journal				Disc	overy (observa	ation)	
	Academk	conference				Case	e study		
	Pure rese	arch				Kno	wledge		

Searching for research in Learning Collocations

## 7.2 Learning Collocations

The Learning Collocations resource contains a host of collocations covering most English words. It is split into three databases, each sourcing collocations from a different body of text: standard and general English (the British National Corpus), specialized academic written text (the British Academic Written English Corpus), and a contemporary crowd-sourced resource (Wikipedia). Word combinations that follow 17 common syntactic patterns (verb + noun, noun + noun, adjective + noun, noun + of + noun, etc.) are extracted, sorted by frequency, and presented in an easy-to-use interface, with links to their original context.

This resource works as follows. The user types a term of interest and selects one of the three databases: standard, academic, and contemporary English. In the illustration, the term is *research*, with the contemporary English (Wikipedia) database. The system retrieves and displays collocations and other information about the term.

At the top are family words, that is, inflected and derived forms of the query term — in this case *researches, researching, researched, researcher* and *researchers*. Clicking any of these will re-invoke a search using it as the query term. Links to the term's synonyms and antonyms appear on the right: standard resources (WordNet and Roget's thesaurus) are used to identify these.

The illustration shows collocations of the word *research* "used as a noun", and four syntactic patterns are visible: <u>research + noun</u>, <u>adjective + research</u>, <u>noun + of + research</u>, <u>research + preposition + noun</u>. There are five further patterns, that can also be shown. And *research* can also be "used as a verb", with a further seven patterns.

For each pattern, ten collocations are displayed, along with their frequencies. Clicking one – *social research*, in the illustration – brings up a superimposed panel displaying similar collocations, with links that retrieve samples in context from the original text. Learners can use the cherry icon to place collocations of interest into their cherry basket (Section 5.5).

The panel beneath shows words that are related to the query term: in this case, *hypothesis, scientific, empirical, method, prediction, academic, researcher,* .... Here, *scientific* has been clicked, bringing up a panel showing collocations associated with that word: *scientific method, scientific information,* ....

At the bottom, FLAX gives a definition of the query term (from Wikipedia), and related topics (also derived from Wikipedia). Mousing over a topic brings up its definition.

Typing more than one word retrieves collocations containing all the query terms, regardless of word order. This is a good way to expand a learner's knowledge of correct usage. For example, the query *benefit public* yields *public benefit, benefit to the public, benefit the public, reserved for the public benefit,* and so on.

sed as a noun						
	alcohol consumption	116 🗳	alcohol limit	18		
	alcohol consumption	116	alcohol misuse	18		
alcohol + noun		1.11	yup	18		
	<ul> <li>Correlations between alcohol consumpt evaluated by linear regression analysis.</li> </ul>	tion and incidences	were 2	10		
	The incidence of pancreatitis discharges correlated with the alcohol hol					
	consumption in Finland (r=0.78, p=0.0001). In Finland alcohol consumption has shown an increase the 1990s					
	which is in contrast with other European	hol	14			
	As with oropharyngeal cancers, alcohol consumption in combination with tobacco smoking increases the risk substantially [8].     Between 1970789 alcohol consumption increased during 1970774     of alcohol     of alcohol					
noun + of + alcohol						
	The alcohol consumption in Finland correlated significantly with the     Iohol					
	incidence of liver cirrhosis discharges (r=	bhol	8			
	<ul> <li>I do not wish to enter into the rights and versus vegetarianism or alcohol consum</li> </ul>	wrongs of meat con uption versus abste	sumption intion.	>>> m one		

### Searching for *alcohol* in Learning Collocations

	🗳 advertising campaign	160	- 44	television advertising	31
	advertising agency	108	- 44	cigarette advertising	27
advertising + noun	tobacco advertising	94	- 44	advertising expenditure	20
	advertising revenue	79	- 44	advertising space	19
	advertising industry	35	- 44	advertising business	19
					>>> n ore
	free advertising	12	4	current advertising	7
	political advertising	9	-	fake advertising	6
djective + advertising	👶 local advertising	9		major advertising campaign	5
	national advertising	8	-	heavy advertising	5
	new advertising campaign	7	-	direct advertising	5
					>>> n are
	lacktrian form of advertising	14		power of advertising	5
	effects of advertising	6	- 44	use of advertising	5
oun + of + advertising	role of advertising	6	- 44	amount of advertising	4
	🚑 medium of advertising	5	-	sort of advertising	4
	advertising of tobacco	5	- 44	kind of advertising	4
					>>> n ore

### Searching for *advertising* in Learning Collocations

Family words:banned banning	bans	Synonyms	
¥used as a noun			verb: forbid prohibit interdict proscribe veto disallow censor outlaw
adjective + ban	<ul> <li>total ban</li> <li>complete ban</li> <li>three-match ban</li> <li>immediate ban</li> <li>International ban</li> </ul>	73 33 16 15 14	criminalize criminalise banish expel ostracize ostracise shun blackball noun: prohibition proscription decree edict fiat order rescript banning forbidding BAN baccalaureate
			>>> m ore

Synonyms of ban in Learning Collocations

## 7.3 Preparing for essay-writing

Knowing collocations of a term that is central to what students are writing about can help them express ideas fluently and accurately. Teachers often recommend collecting a few topic-specific collocations and expressions before starting writing. The Learning Collocations described in the previous section can help.

As an example, we use an essay entitled "Alcohol advertising: Should it be banned?" The first step is to identify keywords for the topic: *alcohol, advertising*, and *ban* are obvious candidates. Next the learner seeks collocations that are germane to the topic. This can stimulate a brainstorming process, because students might encounter new and inspiring ideas. Thus it is a good idea to collect several collocations, even though many might not end up in the text. Here are four sample collocations for each keyword:

alcohol	advertising	ban
alcohol consumption	effects/power/impact of	ban on tobacco advertising
amount of alcohol	advertising	advertising ban
excess alcohol	heavy advertising	legislation to ban
addicted to alcohol	funded by advertising	supported the ban

It is not always possible to find exactly matched collocations. However, words can sometimes be substituted or added to relate a collocation to the topic. In the Table, *ban on tobacco advertising* can be changed to *ban on alcohol advertising*, *heavy advertising* to *heavy alcohol advertising*, and *legislation to ban* to *legislation to ban alcohol advertising*.

Sample sentences can be a fruitful source of useful expressions. In the upper image, *correlations between alcohol consumption and incidences* is a good example. From this expression, plausible sentences like "There is a positive correlation between advertising familiarity and alcohol consumption" can be constructed. Likewise, some collocations in the above Table can be further extended, such as *a fair amount of alcohol, driving with excess alcohol,* and *become addicted to alcohol.* 

Collecting and using semantically similar collocations is an effective way to avoid repetition and increase lexical variety, like this:

This following section focuses on **the effects of alcohol advertising** on increasing drinking behaviors. **The power of alcohol portrayal** on ..... **The impact of liquor advertisements** on .....

Here, the repeated use of synonyms *effects*, *power*, and *impact* also helps to increase the cohesion of the writing.

Another way of reducing repetition is to explore synonyms and their collocations. For example, the synonyms *forbid and prohibit* for the word *ban* are shown in the bottom image.

sed as an adjecti	ve				
	🗳 related activity	53	4	related papers	29
	🚑 related species	39	-	related subjects	28
related + noun	🚑 related issues	39	4	related areas	26
	🚑 related problems	32	4	related fields	20
	🚑 related matters	29	4	related development	19
					>>> more
	closely related	93	4	broadly related	3
adverb + related	semantically related	13	4	environmentally related	3
	distantly related	6	4	antigenically related	3
	🚑 less related	4	4	contextually related	2
	👶 newly related	4	-	causally related	2
					>>> more

Search for *related* in Learning Collocations

verb + opi	nion a a a	express an opinion have an opinion have an opinion having the required reasonable of have opinions have strong opinions have an opinion on had an opinion had de opinion of had on opinion of	18 8 pinion 3 3 3 2 2 2 1	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	changed his opinion voice an opinion asked his opinion influencing public opinion venture an opinion	6 6 5 4 >>> more
		<ul> <li>have different opinions</li> <li>had the highest opinion of</li> <li>had pacifist opinion found</li> <li>have the opposite opinion</li> </ul>	1			
	<ul> <li>But that would be a self-conscious maj self-conscious min</li> </ul>	plausible prediction only for members of a c onty of opinion, and if such a majority exister onty that would have the opposite opinion are nave tirm opinions	constant and d so would a	da		

### Search for opinion in Learning Collocations

	👶 net profit	259 🗳	good profit	19
adjective + profit	🖨 pre-tax profit	70 🗳	healthy profit	16
	🖨 gross profit	22 🗳	quick profit	13
	🚑 small profit	22 🗳	potential profit	11
	private profit	20 🗳	maximum profit	11
				>>> more

Search for profit in Learning Collocations

## 7.4 Choosing the appropriate word

Do the phrases "learn knowledge" and "big rain" sound odd to you? Many students have difficulty in finding the right words to express their ideas, because they lack collocation knowledge or are unduly influenced by their mother tongue. (Both these phrases are natural in Chinese). As a result, they tend to formulate inappropriate word combinations, or overuse general modifiers such as *more, very, bad, good,* etc. This is particularly noticeable in <u>verb</u> + noun, adverb + verb, and adjective + noun combinations, as in the following sentences, where infelicitous phrases appear in bold:

Alcohol advertising is **actively related** to alcohol consumption, and the consumption can lead to fatalities.

Some people argue that the alcohol product advertising should be banned and others **keep the opinion** against it.

While many alcohol companies are enjoying **lucrative profits**, their alcohol advertising activities are being challenged by the general public and researchers.

In the first example, the student has used the adverb *actively* in an attempt to emphasize the strong correlation between *alcohol advertising* and *consumption*. In the second, *keep* is not an appropriate verb to associate with the noun *opinion*. The last example, *lucrative profits*, is a bizarre combination: *lucrative* is commonly used with *business, market, career*, etc., but not with *profit*.

The Learning Collocations resource is an excellent source of plausible word combinations. It is fairly easy to locate appropriate verbs or adjectives for a particular noun, or appropriate adverbs for a particular verb. Here are some collocates of *related*, *opinion*, and *profit*, retrieved from Learning Collocations:

related	opinion	profit
closely related	express an opinion	substantial profit
highly related	have an opinion	increased profit
clearly related	voice an opinion	considerable profit

In the first example sentence above, *closely*, *highly*, and *clearly* are all far more appropriate than *actively*. In the second, *express*, *have* and *voice* all seem to fit the context. In fact, this sentence can be further improved by including *have an opposite opinion*; a student can find this by examining the extensions of *have an opinion* shown in the middle image. In the third example sentence, *lucrative can be* replaced with *substantial*, *increased*, or *considerable* to express the intended idea.

ised as an adjective					
	🔺 harmful effects	52	4	harmful emissions	10
	👶 harmful consequences	13	- 4	harmful bacteria	9
harmful + noun	👶 harmful rays	12		harmful chemicals	4
	👶 harmful substances	12	- 44	harmful wastes	4
	👶 harmful side-effects	11	4	harmful beings	4
					>>> more
	👶 potentially harmful	45	4	possibly harmful	6
4 11 123 1311	👶 less harmful	10	-	socially harmful	3
adverb + harmful	positively harmful	7	-	allegedly harmful	2
	👶 environmentally harmful	7		extremely harmful	2
	👶 particularly harmful	6		necessarily harmful	2
					>>> more
	🌲 harmful to the environment	11	4	harmful to society	3
	👶 harmful to health	7	- 44	harmful to women	2
armful + preposition + noun	A harmful to the interests	4		harmful to people	2
	👶 harmful to children	3	4	harmful to the vine	2
	harmful to others	3		harmful to humans	2
					>>> more

### Search for harmful in Learning Collocations

	eventually lead to	39	4	probably lead to	14
	inevitably lead to	31	4	simply lead to	13
adverb + lead	🗳 well lead to	30	4	necessarily lead to	9
	ultimately lead to	24	4	usually lead to	7
	🐣 easily lead to	21		undoubtedly lead to	6
					>>> more

### Search for *lead* in Learning Collocations

	-	exposed to the sun	10	4	exposed to the elements	5
	-	exposed to the air	8	4	exposed to blood	4
exposed + preposition + noun		exposed to the risk of	7	4	exposed to the light	3
		exposed to radiation	6	-	exposed at low tide	3
	4	exposed to risks to	5	4	exposed to high concentrati	ons of 3
						>>> more
	4	fully exposed	14	4	increasingly exposed	3
	4	regularly exposed to	5	4	naturally exposed to	3
adverb + exposed		completely exposed	4	-	briefly exposed to	3
	-	constantly exposed to	4	4	sub-aerially exposed	2
	-	totally exposed	3	4	continually exposed to	2
						>>> more

Search for exposed in Learning Collocations

## 7.5 Hedging and boosting

Adding adverbs to qualify statements is a common rhetorical device, particularly in academic writing. But students often have trouble hedging or boosting statements appropriately and precisely. As a result, they overuse general adverbs such as *very, more,* and *much* to weaken or strengthen their claim, and sometimes invalidate statements by choosing highly specific qualifiers. Consider these:

Alcohol is very harmful to their physical and psychological health.

It is a common sense that the more ads we are exposed to, the more likely we are to be seduced to drink and may drink excessively, which **inevitably leads to** disasters while driving.

Smart (1988) however had reviewed many other research and admitted that the link between the advertising and consumption was weak and awaiting more comprehensive research, while at the same time confirmed that alcohol drinkers **were definitely exposed to** alcohol advertising and their consuming behaviors were in fact continuing to increase.

The *very* in the first example is probably the most common adverb used by novice writers to add extra strength to a statement. Students commonly rely on such adverbs to help voice opinions because of their restricted vocabulary knowledge. These adverbs are weak and ambiguous, and should be avoided in academic writing. In the second and third examples, the adverbs *inevitably* and *definitely* are used to express a high degree of certainty. However, these qualifiers are too extreme. Excessive drinking does not *necessarily* lead to driving disasters, and not all alcohol drinkers are influenced by liquor advertisements.

The Learning Collocations resource can help writers find appropriate hedges and boosters. Here are some examples that are commonly associated with *harmful, lead to* and *exposed to,* expressing various degrees of certainty:

harmful	lead to	exposed to	
potentially harmful	probably lead to	regularly exposed to	
possibly harmful	easily lead to	constantly exposed to	
apparently harmful	usually lead to	increasingly exposed to	
particularly harmful	ultimately lead to	naturally exposed to	
extremely harmful	inevitably lead to	continually exposed to	
	significantly reduce	34 🗳 thereby reduce	16
-----------------	----------------------	-------------------------	----------
	considerably reduce	21 🗳 gradually reduce	11
adverb + reduce	greatly reduce	20 🗳 actually reduce	10
	🖨 further reduce	18 🗳 well reduce	9
	substantially reduce	17 🗳 drastically reduce	9
			>>> more

### Search for reduce in Learning Collocations

	a linguistic behaviour	37	4	disruptive behaviour	31
	anti-social behaviour	37	- 44	strange behaviour	30
adjective + behaviour	🚑 individual behaviour	34	4	acceptable behaviour	29
	🚑 undesirable behaviour	34		chaotic behaviour	27
	👶 unacceptable behaviour	34		deviant behaviour	26
	<<< less				>>> more

# Search for behaviour in Learning Collocations

solve the problem	123	4	have the problem of	21
🜲 tackle the problem of	37	4	face the problem of	20
overcome this problem	35	4	causing the problem	16
a resolve the problem	33	4	see the problem	14
address the problem of	27	4	cure the problem	14
	<ul> <li>solve the problem</li> <li>tackle the problem of</li> <li>overcome this problem</li> <li>resolve the problem</li> <li>address the problem of</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>solve the problem</li> <li>tackle the problem of</li> <li>overcome this problem</li> <li>resolve the problem</li> <li>address the problem of</li> <li>27</li> </ul>	solve the problem 123     tackle the problem of 37     overcome this problem 35     resolve the problem 33     address the problem of 27	<ul> <li>solve the problem</li> <li>tackle the problem of</li> <li>tackle the problem of</li> <li>overcome this problem</li> <li>a causing the problem</li> <li>a causing the problem</li> <li>a see the problem</li> <li>address the problem of</li> <li>address the problem of</li> <li>address the problem of</li> </ul>

### Search for problem in Learning Collocations

	🌲 immediate effect	153	\$	significant effect	115
	adverse effect	136	4	cumulative effect	114
adjective + effect	🚑 overall effect	135	4	direct effect	110
	🚑 good effect	123	-	desired effect	105
	a profound effect	121	4	dramatic effect	100
					>>> more

# Search for effect in Learning Collocations

🔺 heavy drinking	32		underage drinking	7
🗳 excessive drinking	20		under-age drinking	6
🗳 moderate drinking	9		late-night drinking	5
👍 clean drinking water	8		responsible drinking attitudes	4
🗳 sensible drinking	7		serious drinking	4
	heavy drinking     excessive drinking     moderate drinking     clean drinking water     sensible drinking	heavy drinking 32     excessive drinking 20     moderate drinking 9     clean drinking water 8     sensible drinking 7	A heavy drinking 32     A excessive drinking 20     A moderate drinking 9     A clean drinking water 8     A sensible drinking 7	A heavy drinking       32       a underage drinking         A excessive drinking       20       a under-age drinking         A moderate drinking       9       a late-night drinking         A clean drinking water       8       a responsible drinking attitudes         A serious drinking       7       a serious drinking

# Search for drinking in Learning Collocations

	🜲 heavy drinker	11	4	lone drinker	2
	🚑 great drinker	4	4	bearded drinker	1
adjective + drinker	👶 moderate drinker	2	4	individualistic drinker	1
	a notorious drinker	2	4	Big drinker	1
	🚑 fellow drinker	2		messy drinker	1

# Search for drinker in Learning Collocations

# 7.6 Improving formality

Formality and precision are both important features of academic writing. However, students often overuse colloquial language, and their writing comes out as too informal and lacking in precision. Here are three different ways this can occur.

1. Using generic quantifiers

a. Due to this, the consumption of alcohol product has reduced a lot.b. If alcohol advertising was banned then this sort of behavior would decrease.

2. Overusing general words

a. Drinking alcohol will hurt health and **make** public health problems.
b. The majority of binge drinkers do not think they are problem drinkers so they could have **bad** effect on their classmates.

3. Failing to employ topic-specific collocations

a. Drinking too much alcohol can change our behaviors.b. Banning alcohol advertising makes people who love alcohol very much decrease.

Students can consult the Learning Collocations resource to find precise expressions that help them avoid colloquial usage. The suggestions in the Table below relate to the example sentences above.

For sentence 1a, the Table suggests replacing *a lot* by a more expressive word: *significantly, considerably,* or *greatly.* Likewise, *sort of* in 1b could be replaced by *undesirable, unacceptable,* or *deviant.* For 2a, the verbs *cause, raise* and *pose* are commonly associated with the noun *problem.* In 2b, substituting *serious, damaging* or *disastrous* for *bad* adds strength. The cumbersome expressions in 3a and 3b can be replaced by topic-related collocations, *heavy* (or *excessive,* or *serious*) *drinking* instead of *drinking too much alcohol,* and *heavy* (or *regular,* or *habitual*) *drinker* for *people who love alcohol very much.* 

1a. reduce a lot	2a. make public health problems	3a. drinking too much alcohol
significantly reduce considerably reduce greatly reduce	cause the problem raise the problem pose the problem	heavy drinking excessive drinking serious drinking
1b. sort of behavior	2b. have bad effect on	3b. people who love alcohol very much

	📣 weekly benefit	13	🙆 outstanding benefit	11
	🐣 considerable benefit	13	👶 general benefit	11
adjective + benefit	🚑 net benefit	11	👶 practical benefit	10
	🚑 obvious benefit	11	👶 extra benefit	10
	🐣 clinical benefit	11	👶 economic benefit	10
	<ocless< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>&gt;&gt;&gt; more</td></ocless<>			>>> more

	🐣 benefit patients	8	- 4	getting housing benefit	
	🐣 benefit the company	8	- 44	benefit payments	
benefit + noun	🐣 benefit the community	8	4	benefit the public	
	🗳 benefit others	7	- 20	benefit the host	
	benefit the environment	5	- 4	benefit consumers	

### Search for benefit in Learning Collocations

				Synonyms
¥ used as a noun				verb:
				associate relate connect think cogitate tie join
	🐣 direct link	113 🚑 cau	us al link	unite yoke attach
	🖨 missing link	38 🗳 pos	ssible link	noun:
adjective + link	🐣 weak link	30 🗳 clos	se link	nawle linkana lia footanar faotaning hokflaot fiving
	🐥 vital link	30 🗳 stro	ong link	connection connectedness union unification
	🍰 important link	29 🗳 clea	ar link	connexion shape form instruction command

Synonyms of *link* in *Learning Collocations* 

	have impact	in star	dard English (BNC) 👻 go
- Г	👶 have an impact on	70	🖨 have little impact 6
	🖨 had little impact on	25	🗳 having an impact 6
4	🚑 had an impact on	25	🗳 had an enormous impact on 5
11	🚑 have little impact on	21	have an adverse impact on 4
	👶 have an impact	16	have considerable impact on 4
	🖨 has an impact on	12	have an important impact on 3
	🚑 had little impact	9	had the greatest impact on 3
	👶 had an impact	8	have an immediate impact on 3
	🖨 having an impact on	7	A had considerable impact on 3
	🚑 have an impact upon	7	has little impact on 2
1			>>>> m are

Search for have impact in Learning Collocations

# 7.7 Increasing text variation

A common problem in student writing is repetition, repetition, repetition. Unless deliberately used for dramatic effect, repetitive writing is boring writing. Here we illustrate how Learning Collocations can be used to enliven the examples below, taken from a student essay.

- 1. Ackoff and Emshoff (1975) confirmed that the increase of advertising activity on the alcohol brand **was positively linked with** the sales, hence the increasing consumption of the product. Smart (1988) however admitted that the **link between** the advertising and consumption was weak and awaiting more comprehensive research. Saffer (1997) focused on alcohol consumption and motor vehicle fatalities and revealed positive **link between** the two.
- 2. Some people will argue that some alcohol products also **have some benefits** such as the use for medicine. However, everything has both sides, it is up to how people use. Even though some alcohol products **have some benefits**, the drawbacks of alcohol products overweight the **benefits**. Therefore, the alcohol product advertising should be banned.
- 3. In the long run, it has more advantages to ban alcoholic product advertising on the whole in terms of the healthier and sustainable development of the country, although it may **have big impact on** the sales of alcohol companies as frequently argued as their evidence by the opponents. For example, ... It is unwise to invest even one dollar on alcohol advertisements, which **have bad impact on** people's health.

First, deploy synonyms to avoid overusing the same word. For example 1, the Synonyms button in Learning Collocations shows that *associate* and *relate* are synonyms of the word *link*. Further checking the collocations of these two words, and their noun forms (*association* and *relation*), yields useful phrases: *associate with or association between* and *relate to* or *relation between*. These are plausible alternatives for *link with* and *link between*.

Second, consider using other members of the same word family (e.g., verb, noun, adjective and adverb). The word *benefit* is frequently overused in student writing, particularly its noun form — as in the phrase *have benefits*. Searching for *benefit* in Learning Collocations generates the family word *beneficial*, and also verb usages such as *benefit consumers*, *benefit greatly from*, *able to benefit from*, and *benefit from the use of*.

Third, <u>have + adjective + impact on</u> occurs several times in the example essay in conjunction with weak adjectives like *big*, *bad*, *small*, and *great*. Searching for phrases by putting multiple words in the query box — in this case *have impact* — provides an effective way of finding alternatives, such as *enormous*, *considerable*, *significant*, *little*, *adverse*, and *minimal*. Other verbs associated with *impact on* include *assess*, *examine*, *consider*, *minimize*, *reduce*, and *measure*.

Fragment	Frequency
Fragment alcohol	16,000,000
alcohol	

### Search for alcohol in Web Phrases

Fragment	Frequency	Verb + advantage (9,800,000)	
advantage 26,00	26,000,000	taking advantage (1,200,000)	
		* Take advantage (1,100,000)	
		took advantage (540,000)	
		<ul> <li>taken advantage (350,000)</li> <li>added advantage (140,000)</li> </ul>	
		Taking advantage (130,000)	

# Search for advantage in Web Phrases

ment	Frequency	<ul> <li>⇒ begin to + Verb (3,900,000)</li> <li>⇒ begin to see (230,000)</li> </ul>
begin to	7 200 000	begin to understand (200,000)     begin to feel (140,000)
begin to	7,200,000	e begin to be (120,000)

### Search for begin to in Web Phrases

Fragment	Frequency	has no influence (40,000)     bas an influence (26,000)
has has negative	1,000,000,000	has all influence (10,000)
	64,000	has more influence (8,000)     bay some influence (2,100)
has negative influence	300	has significant influence (6,600)
		+ has great influence (6,100)

#### Search for has \* influence in Web Phrases

Fragment	Frequency	exposure + To (6,000,000)
exposure	19,000,000	exposure + Preposition (2,500,000)
		exposure + Coordinating Conjunction (920,000)

Search for exposure in Web Phrases

# 7.8 Checking grammar

Should I use a determiner? And which one: *a*, *an*, or *the*? Is *famous for* or *famous with* correct? Does the word *research* have a plural form? The Web Phrases collection can be used to solve grammatical problems such as these. We will examine the five examples in the Table below: singular *vs.* plural form, appropriate determiners, verbs followed by the word *to*, adjectives *vs.* adverbs, and appropriate prepositions.

1. Singular <i>vs.</i> plural	Eemund (2012) has found the association between <b>alcohol intakes</b> and asthma.
2. Determiners	Alcohol companies <b>take an advantage of</b> the opportunity to promote their products on TV.
3. Verb + <i>to</i>	This situation may make young people <b>begin to drinking</b> alcohol.
4. Adjective vs. adverb	Alcohol products <b>has negatively influence</b> on the social harmony.
5. Prepositions	A study has found that <b>exposure on alcohol</b> <b>advertising</b> encourages people to drink.

- 1. Consulting Web Phrases for phrases that follow the word *alcohol* shows that the overwhelming majority of nouns are singular: *alcohol abuse, alcohol use, alcohol consumption, alcohol rehab* and *alcohol intake*.
- 2. Language learners find it hard to use determiners correctly, because there are many exceptions to the general rules. For example, we say *have an advantage*, but not *take an advantage*. In a search for phrases preceding *advantage*, *take advantage* (without a determiner) tops the list.
- 3. The word *to* can be used either as a preposition or as an infinitive marker (used with a verb's base form to indicate that it is in the infinitive). Determining its true function can be difficult, particularly when it follows a verb for example, in *contribute to* and *expose to* it is a preposition. Checking Web Phrases for phrases following <u>verb + to</u> helps distinguish them. Here, *begin to* should be followed by a base form verb: *begin to drink*.
- 4. Students often confuse a word's adjectival and adverbial forms. Using "wild-card" search in Web Phrases, has \* influence generates many <u>adjective + influence</u> phrases, including **negative influence**.
- 5. Web Phrases makes it easy to find the most commonly used preposition for a particular word. Here, the most common preposition following *exposure* is *to*: *exposure to*.



Structure of the FLAX system

# 8. Under the hood

If FLAX is all set up for you, or if you use the demonstration version, you don't need to know anything more about how it works. This chapter is for people who have to set up the system, or for those who are just curious.

# 8.1 FLAX architecture

In the center of the diagram opposite is the FLAX server. Here it is servicing three groups of users: one group of stand-alone FLAX users (on the right), and Moodle users on two separate sites (on the left). Note that the FLAX server is a completely separate entity from the Moodle server, and that several (in this case two) Moodle sites can use the same FLAX server. All the users in this illustration are on Web browsers (represented by green circles), and there is no distinction between students and teachers.

Stand-alone FLAX users communicate with FLAX in the ordinary way; they use it as a Web server over the standard hypertext transfer protocol (HTTP). To do this, all they need is the URL of a FLAX site (http://flax.nzdl.org for the demonstration site). Teachers must register (Chapter 3) to save the exercises they create or to build collections; any collections they build are visible to everyone. We hope that serious users will download the FLAX server and run it on their own computer. The system is available at no cost from the FLAX website.

Moodle users communicate with their normal Moodle service, which must have a module called MoodleFLAX installed. MoodleFLAX sits inside Moodle and communicates with a FLAX server using Web service calls. Communication is fine grained; when students undertake FLAX activities their Moodle server is continually making Web service calls to the FLAX server behind the scenes. Cut this connection and the activities will stall. All the exercises you make and the collections you build are stored on the FLAX server; only the class grades are stored on Moodle.

At the time that MoodleFLAX module is installed, you give it the Web address of a FLAX server. The FLAX demonstration site can be used temporarily, but again for serious use please download and install the FLAX server.

When several Moodle sites communicate with the same FLAX server, the collections built on each site are kept separate. Recall from Chapter 3 that collections are shared within your institution – i.e., on a single Moodle site. However, they are not shared *between* different sites.

The FLAX server runs on Linux, Windows, and Mac. It is easy to install. Download the server from <a href="http://flax.nzdl.org">http://flax.nzdl.org</a>: full installation instructions are given there. Moodle users need to download the MoodleFLAX module from the Moodle website and make the connection with their FLAX server.







Components that cannot easily be downloaded

# 8.2 More on FLAX servers

Although the FLAX software is open source, for various practical reasons it is difficult to download everything that can be viewed at the http://flax.nzdl.org website.

If you install just the FLAX server, as described above, everything described in this book will work *except*:

- Activities
  - Related Words (Section 4.2.1)
  - Collocation Matching (Section 4.2.2)
  - Collocation Dominoes (Section 4.2.3)
  - Collocation Guessing (Section 4.2.4)
- Resources
  - Learning Collocations (all of Section 7.2)
  - British Academic Written English collections (Chapter 5)
  - Usage examples invoked by the British Flag icon (Section 5.6, Chapter 7).

Three collocation databases are available from http://flax.nzdl.org, produced from the British Academic Written English corpus, from the British National Corpus, and from Wikipedia. Even without them, collocations in the documents in the digital library collection will still be identified and marked. But these databases are necessary for other collocations to be shown, and for the above activities. If they are downloaded and installed, most of the above facilities will automatically become available.

At this point, everything described in this book will work except.

- Facilities
  - "Contemporary English collocations" selection (Section 7.2)
  - Definitions of query terms, and related topics (Section 7.2)
- Resources
  - British Academic Written English collections (Chapter 5)
  - Usage examples invoked by the British Flag icon (Section 5.6, Chapter 7).

For these to work, the FLAX components shown in the lower illustration are required.

The British Academic Written English (BAWE) and British National Corpus collections are subject to separate license agreements. If you obtain a license for the former,<sup>10</sup> we can make it available for you. However, the latter is too large to download: therefore, usage examples invoked by the British flag icon are not available (the icon will not appear in your interface). However, if you download BAWE, examples will be supplied from that instead.

The **Wikipedia Miner** software is used to show definitions of query terms, and related topics. This software is available separately from <u>http://wikipedia-miner.cms.waikato.ac.nz</u>. The **Wikipedia collocation database** is too big to download. This means that the "contemporary English collocations" menu selection described in Section 7.2 will not appear.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> from the Oxford Text Archive, <u>http://ota.ahds.ac.uk/desc/2539</u>

Ētahi Tikanga Maori!

Ka nui ngā tikanga Māori e āhei ana ā tātou tamariki ki te ako. Me āta tohutohu, nō te anō, ko ēnei tohutohu he mea āta waiho iho nā mea tātou tīpuna mai ō mai anō. Ko ō tātou tīpuna he iwi mōhio ki te tohu i ā rātou taonga, i ā tātou kai hoki.

> Total score: 0 Question No. 2 out of 29 Check Answer Previous question Next question

Scrambled sentences in Māori: easy? ...

Ētahi Tikanga Maori!

Ka nui ngā tikanga e ki ā Māori tamariki ana tātou āhei te ako. Me āta tohutohu, nō te mea ko ēnei tohutohu he mea āta waiho iho nā ō tātou tīpuna mai anō, mai anō.

Total score: 0 Question No. 1 out of 26

Check Answer Previous question Next question

#### ... or not so easy!



Word guessing, in German

# 8.3 FLAX in other languages

The ideas underlying FLAX are language independent, and it can be used without any modification for teaching other languages – European ones, anyway.<sup>11</sup> Of course, syntactic structures such as simple vs. complex sentence, or parts of speech, will not work properly for other languages. Such information is utilized as an optional feature in most activities. Also, collocation-based activities will not work, because our collocation dictionaries are in English.

Nevertheless, FLAX can be used just as it stands for different languages. The illustration shows a Scrambled Sentence exercise in the Māori language of indigenous New Zealanders.

Fixing it up for other languages to provide all the features that are available for English is not, in principle, difficult. All that is needed is a syntactic module that can identify syntactic structure and parts of speech in that language. This will provide all the facilities that are available in English, but without any of the additional activities and resources that require external collocation databases (see Section 8.2).

The FLAX project at the University of Waikato is keen to cooperate with people who wish to make it available in other languages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> In its present form it will not work with languages such as Chinese that do not put spaces between words, and we are unsure about right-to-left languages such as Arabic.

# **Contact details**

#### FLAX project website:

http://flax.nzdl.org

#### Email:

flax@cs.waikato.ac.nz

#### MoodleFLAX module:

http://docs.moodle.org/20/en/Flax\_module

#### Host organization:

University of Waikato, New Zealand

### Project team:

Ian H. Witten, Professor of Computer Science Margaret Franken, Chairperson, Language Education <u>Shaoqun Wu</u>, Postdoctoral Fellow Xiaofeng Yu, Research Programmer Liang Li, Researcher Jennifer L. Whisler, Fulbright Fellow Michael Walmsley, Researcher

# 9. Over to you!

As we explained at the outset, FLAX is both a vision and a language learning system that you can use. And we invite you to participate in both!

If you're a teacher, please use the FLAX language learning system. There are no charges: it's completely free. Moodle users can download the MoodleFLAX module; others can access FLAX from our website. You're welcome to try it out with your classes. For sustained use, we urge you to download and install the FLAX server, to avoid overloading our computers. It's easy to do, and runs on any computer. However, some advanced FLAX facilities require further work to set up (Section 8.2). If you need help, just ask us.

We like to hear from FLAX users. We're interested in your comments and suggestions, and also in more formal user studies and comparisons, to help us improve the software. If you build collections that you can share, we can put them on our website. We're particularly interested to hear about experiences with non-English language teaching.

We also invite you to help us develop the FLAX vision. And we're also working on new ideas. Here are some.

*Writing aids*. We are seeking ways of detecting language errors in student writing, and suggesting alternative phrasing. We have noted that lack of collocation knowledge explains why language learners find it hard to express their ideas simply, precisely, and persuasively. Yet FLAX has an enormous vocabulary of collocations – surely it can help critique, and offer constructive suggestions.

*Extensive reading*. FLAX supports intensive study of particular texts. A complementary approach is to encourage students to read large volumes of text. In an associated project, FERN, we are modeling users by recording their usage of glosses, and their reading speed. The system automatically selects reading material of appropriate difficulty – and on topics that interest the individual user.

**Collocation learning**. FLAX already includes many facilities to help students learn collocations. However, we are experimenting with further advanced facilities in connection with our three databases of collocations.

*Wikipedia mining*. In a separate research project, we have discovered how to link topics in documents to Wikipedia articles, and to use this to quantify the semantic relatedness of arbitrary concepts. Both can be applied to language learning, for example by adding explanatory popups for named entities such as people and places, and by assessing the relevance of student guesses in certain exercises.

FLAX is open source software and you can work on it too. Please contact us if you would like to help develop the vision.

# **Acknowledgements**

We gratefully acknowledge the help of all who have worked on the FLAX project, particularly John Brine, Katherine Brown, Jenny Field, and Alannah Fitzgerald.

We would like to acknowledge the stimulating environment provided by the digital library laboratory at the University of Waikato.

This work has been supported by grants from the New Zealand Marsden Fund and the New Zealand Foundation for Research, Science and Technology.

# **Further reading**

The definitive account of FLAX's support for collocation learning:

• Wu, S. (2010) *Supporting collocation learning*. PhD thesis, University of Waikato, New Zealand.

Published papers describing the FLAX system:

- Wu, S., Franken, M. and Witten, I.H. (2009) "Refining the use of the Web (and Web search) as a language teaching and learning resource." *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 22(3), 249-268.
- Wu, S. and Witten, I.H. (2010) "First Person Singular: A digital library collection that helps second language learners express themselves." *International Journal of Digital Library Systems*, 1(1), pp. 24-43.
- Wu, S., Witten, I.H. and Franken, M. (2010) "Utilizing lexical data from a Webderived corpus to expand productive collocation knowledge." *ReCALL*, 22(01), 83-102.
- Wu, S., Witten, I.H. and Franken, M. (2010) "Supporting collocation learning with a digital library." *Computer Assisted Language Learning Journal, 23*(1), 87-110.
- Witten, I.H., Wu, S. and Yu, X. (2011) "Linking digital libraries to courses." International Conference on Computer Supported Education, pp. 5-14, Noordwijkerhout, Netherlands.
- Wu, S., Franken, M. and Witten, I.H. (2012) "Collocation Games from a Language Corpus." *Digital Games in Language Learning and Teaching*, edited by H. Reinders, pp. 209-229, August. Macmillan Publishers, England.

Books and papers that have influenced our work:

- Hill, J. (1999) "Collocational competence." *ETP (English Teaching Professional)*, Issue 11.
- Lewis, M. (1997) *Implementing the lexical approach: putting theory into practice.* Hove: Language Teaching Publications.
- Milne, D. and Witten, I.H. (2008) "Learning to link with Wikipedia." Proc. Conference on Information and Knowledge Management, pp. 509-518, Napa Valley, California.
- Nation, I. S. P. (2001). *Learning vocabulary in another language*. Cambridge University Press.
- Witten, I.H., Bainbridge, D. and Nichols, D.M. (2009) *How to Build a Digital Library* (Second Edition). Morgan Kaufmann.